Accepted Manuscript



This is an *Accepted Manuscript*, which has been through the Royal Society of Chemistry peer review process and has been accepted for publication.

Accepted Manuscripts are published online shortly after acceptance, before technical editing, formatting and proof reading. Using this free service, authors can make their results available to the community, in citable form, before we publish the edited article. We will replace this Accepted Manuscript with the edited and formatted Advance Article as soon as it is available.

You can find more information about *Accepted Manuscripts* in the **Information for Authors**.

Please note that technical editing may introduce minor changes to the text and/or graphics, which may alter content. The journal's standard <u>Terms & Conditions</u> and the <u>Ethical guidelines</u> still apply. In no event shall the Royal Society of Chemistry be held responsible for any errors or omissions in this *Accepted Manuscript* or any consequences arising from the use of any information it contains.



www.rsc.org/materialsB

Emerging Nanostructured Materials for Musculoskeletal Tissue Engineering

Haisheng Peng^{1, 2, †}, Xunpei Liu^{1, †}, Ran Wang^{2, †}, Feng Jia¹, Liang Dong⁴, Qun Wang^{1, 3, *}

¹Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011, United States

²Department of Pharmaceutics, Daqing Campus, Harbin Medical University, 1 Xin Yang Road Daqing, 163319,

China

³Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering,⁴Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011, United States

[†] These authors contributed equally to this work.

* Corresponding author:

Qun Wang, Ph.D.

Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering Iowa State University 352 Town Engineering Building Ames, Iowa 50011 Office: (515) 294-4218 Fax: (515) 294-8216 E-mail: qunwang@iastate.edu



Dr. Haisheng Peng works as a Postdoctoral Fellow in the Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering at Iowa State University. He is an Associate Professor in the Department of Pharmaceutics at Harbin Medical University (Daqing). He finished his first Postdoctoral training in Cardiovascular Pharmacology from Harbin Medical University in 2011. He got his Ph.D. in Neural Biology from Harbin Medical University in 2008. Dr. Peng's areas of interest include **D**esign of drug delivery system based on mechanisms of particulate distribution, **S**tem cell engineering, and **B**iomaterials.



Dr. Xunpei Liu graduated from Iowa State University in December 2013, with her Ph.D. degree in Chemical Engineering. Dr. Liu's areas of interest include polymer composites synthesis and characterization, biomimetic materials design, fabrication, surface modification and characterization.



Ran Wang is a graduate student in the Department of Pharmaceutcs at Harbin Medical University (Daqing). She got her Bachelor degree in Harbin Medical University (Daqing). Her areas of interests include Design of drug delivery system, biomaterials, nanotechnology and tissue engineering.



Dr. Feng Jia graduated from Iowa State University in December 2013 with the Ph.D. degree in Chemical Engineering. He earned a B.S. at Northwest University (Xi'an, China) in 2007 and a M.S. in chemical engineering at New Mexico State University in 2009. Dr. Jia's research focuses on designing novel nanostructured polymeric platforms to enable spatial control of localization for multifunctional enzymes and therapeutic agents.



Dr. Liang Dong is an Associate Professor in the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering at Iowa State University. He received his Ph.D. degree in Electronics Science and Technology from the Institute of Microelectronics at Tsinghua University, Beijing, China in 2004. Prior to joining Iowa State, he worked as a postdoc in the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering at University of Wisconsin-Madison from 2004 to 2007. Dr. Dong's research is focused on developing lab on a chip, bioinstruments, micro/nano-electro-mechanical systems, nanomaterials, and nanophotonics. He received the National Science Foundation CAREER Award in 2010.



Dr. Qun Wang works as Assistant Professor in the Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering and the Department of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering at Iowa State University. He got his Ph.D. in Chemical and Petroleum Engineering from University of Kansas in 2010. He also got another Ph.D. in Environmental Science and Engineering from Wuhan University in 2007. Dr. Wang's areas of interest include **B**iomaterials, Intestinal Engineering, Nanotechnology, and **D**rug Delivery. In Iowa State University, Dr. Wang **BIND**s his research in these areas to provide innovative solutions and products for human health.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	8
2. NANOSTRUCTURED MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING	10
2.1 BONE AND ASSOCIATED MICROENVIRONMENT CLUES.	10
2.2 NANOSTRUCUTED MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING	12
2.2.1 Natural polymers	13
2.2.2 Synthetic polymers	14
2.2.3 Metallic nanostructured materials	15
2.2.4 Inorganic nanomaterials	18
2.2.5 Nanocomposite materials	20
2.3 FABRICATION OF NANOSTRUCTURED MATERIALS FOR BONE TISSUES	21
2.3.1 Nanofiber	21
2.3.2 Nanoparticles	23
2.3.3 Nanogel	24
2.3.4 Nanocomposite scaffolds	25
2.4 CLINICAL TRIALS OF NANOSTRUCTURED MATERIALS IN BONE TISSUE ENGINEERING	27
2.5 SUMMARY	28
3. NANOSTRUCTURED MATERIALS FOR CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING	J. 29
3.1 CARTILAGE AND ASSOCIATED MICROENVIRONMENT CLUES	29
3.2 MATERIALS FOR CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING	30
3.2.1 Natural polymeric nanomaterials	30
3.2.2 Synthetic polymeric nanomaterials	31
3.2.3 Composite nanomaterials	32
3.3 FABRICATION OF NANOSTRUCTURED MATERIALS FOR CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING	34
3.3.1 Nanofiberous materials	34
3.3.2 Nanoparticles materials	37
3.3.3 Nanogels	38
3.3.4 Nanocomposite scaffolds	38
3.4 CLINICAL TRIALS OF NANOMATERIALS IN CARTILAGE TISSUE ENGINEERING	39
3.3 SUMMARY	40
4. NANOSTRUCTURED MATERIALS FOR MUSCLE ENGINEERING	41
4.1 MUSCLE AND ASSOCIATED MICROENVIRONMENT CLUES	41
4.2 NANOSTRUCTURED MATERIALS USED FOR MUSCLE TISSUE ENGINEERING	42
4.2.1 Natural polymeric nanomaterials	42
4.2.2 Synthetic polymeric materials	43
4.2.3 Nanocomposite materials	44
4.3 FABRICATION OF NANOSCALE MATERIALS FOR MUSCLE TISSUE ENGINEERING	45
4.3.1 Nanofibers	45
4.3.2 Nanoparticles	46
4.3.3 Nanogels	46
4.3.4 Nanocomposite scaffolds	47
4.4 CLINICAL TRIALS OF NANOMATERIALS IN MUSCLE TISSUE ENGINEERING	48

4.5 SUMMARY 4	-8
5. CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK 4	9
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:5	51
REFERENCES:	51



Musculoskeletal tissues

Graphic Abstract: this review summarizes the recent developments in the preparations and applications of nanostructured materials for musculoskeletal tissue engineering.

Journal of Materials Chemistry B Accepted Manuscript

Abstract: The musculoskeletal tissues are highly ordered nanostructured materials, and they have self-healing capability. However, when the tissue damage is beyond the capability, therapeutic approaches to repair or regenerate the tissues are needed. Nanomaterials have attracted much research attention to create novel tissue engineering scaffolds, because of their small size, large surface area, enhanced mechanical properties, tunable molecular and chemical structures, and various surface functionalities. With the development of nanotechnology, nanostructured materials with properties that more closely fulfill the requirement in the course of recovery of native tissues were designed, synthesized, characterized and utilized systematically. Here, we introduced the microenvironment of extracellular matrix in musculoskeletal tissues. We further summarized the current nanostructured materials used in musculoskeletal tissue engineering including natural polymers, synthetic polymers and inorganic materials. Specifically, the fabrications and applications of different nanomaterials in bone, cartilage, and muscle tissue engineering were discussed in details. The most recent research achievement in each category were presented and discussed. Overall, nanostructured materials can be synthesized with controlled composition, size, geometry, and morphology. In order to enhance biocompatibility, immune compatibility and cell adhesion, surface of these materials can be modified for different application in musculoskeletal tissue scaffolds. Although more tasks and challenges are need to be addressed and resolved in order to translate them into commercialized products, the nanostructured materials represent the very promising candidate in the development of musculoskeletal tissue engineering in the future.

Key Words: nanomaterials, musculoskeletal, tissue engineering

Journal of Materials Chemistry B Accepted Manuscript

1. Introduction

The musculoskeletal tissues (e.g. bone, cartilage, joint, muscle, etc.) are highly ordered nanostructured materials consisting of mainly nanofibers embedded in a matrix of different composition.¹⁻
³ These tissues share very similar structures, although they exhibit different appearances. In a simplified model, a network of collagen fibrils with diameters of approximately 100 nm is embedded within a characteristic tissue matrix. The composition and structures of the matrix as well as the interaction of the fibers with the matrix determine the mechanical and biological properties of musculoskeletal tissues. The cellular components located within or on the surface of those composite materials are necessities for maintaining integrity of the tissues. For example, bone tissue has highly nano-hierarchical structure consisting mainly of collagen type I fibers and nano-hydroxyapatite crystals as the matrix, which combinedly contribute to the mechanical properties of bone materials, such as high compressive and tensional strength.^{1,4}

The musculoskeletal tissues have self-healing capability under certain damage degree. For example, small damages of bone tissue can be self-recovered from its constant dynamic remodeling and self-healing. However, when the damage is beyond the self-healing capability of the tissues and therefore severely impacts life quality, therapeutic approaches are desired to repair or regenerate the tissues.⁵⁻⁷ Every year, total healthcare costs of approximately \$15 billion are spent on over 2 million bone grafts worldwide.⁸ With the recent development of nanotechnology and nanostructured materials, tissue engineering provides new opportunities for repair and regeneration of damaged and diseased musculoskeletal tissues.

The conventional materials used for tissue engineering have many challenges, such as infection, inflammation and implant loosening. It is very crucial to generate alternative materials with excellent mechanical and biocompatible properties for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. An ideal biomaterial should mimic the natural tissue formation process, possessing a hierarchically organized structure with different length scales and adequately promotes healing. Generally, appropriate material candidates for

musculoskeletal tissue engineering should possess the following properties: 1) biocompatibility; 2) biodegradability or capability of being remolded; 3) optimized micro-environmental matrix, such as the abilities to promote cell attachment, ECM formation and carry growth factors; 4) proper mechanics strength; and 5) porous structures for cell growth, etc.⁹

Natural tissues possess certain mechanical properties from hierarchical architectures that are precisely controlled from nano to macroscale. To mimic the natural tissues, nanotechnology and nanomaterials have become a focus in the field of musculoskeletal tissue repair.^{10, 11} Nanostructured materials have great properties, such as the small size, large surface area, enhanced mechanical properties, and surface functionality, which make them suitable for creating novel tissue engineering scaffolds.^{1, 12-16} Nanostructured scaffolds can be tailored at the molecular level, so scaffold morphology can excellently mimic the features of ECM in terms of porosity, framing and biofunctionalities. Therefore, both mechanical properties of scaffold microenvironments and biomaterial-tissue interactions can be tuned.¹⁷ Research results have also shown that nanostructured materials can be tuned to control cell behaviors at multiple levels, including adhesion, migration, proliferation, signaling, genetic expression and stem cell fate.¹⁸⁻²⁰ However, it has also become obvious that nanostructured materials had a longer history in the repair and regeneration of musculoskeletal tissues than initially thought and there were challenges and even failures, which are important to summarize at this point in order to guide future design with new ideas.¹

Although there are a number of review articles discussing different kinds of nanostructured materials in musculoskeletal tissue engineering application, they just focused on either a single type of material or tissue. Comprehensive review and discussion of the applications of nanomaterials in musculoskeletal tissue engineering is rare. In this review, we will explore and discuss the major classes of current nanomaterials being used for musculoskeletal tissue engineering, such as natural biomolecules, artificial synthesized polymers, non-metal materials such as silicon and carbon, and metal materials including titanium, platinum, gold, and silver, along with their corresponding fabrication methods and properties. Due to the difference of the structure and composition, distinct designs and applications for

nanostructured materials have been used in the bone, cartilage, and muscle tissue engineering, based on which we will discuss each part in details as illustrated in the following scheme (Figure 1).



Musculoskeletal tissues

Figure 1. Materials and their scaffold structures used for musculoskeletal tissue repair and regeneration.

2. Nanostructured materials for bone tissue engineering

2.1 Bone and associated microenvironment clues

As the major component of musculoskeletal tissues, bone's primary functions include supporting and protecting the mammalian body. It is a type of hierarchically structured composite material, which is composed of organic and inorganic phases.²¹ As shown by Fig. 2, the organic and inorganic phase is primarily type I collagen and hydroxyapatite (HAp) nanocrystals, respectively.^{5, 22, 23} The stiffness of bone is provided by the thin carbonated HAp nanocrystals embedded in the collagen organic matrix.^{24, 25, 26}

The organic matrix, or extracellular matrix (ECM), mostly composed of collagen, forms a major part of the organic phase.²⁷ Cells make up 2-5% of the organic part, 95% of which are osteoblasts and osteocytes.²⁸ The organic phase also includes various growth factors, proteolytic enzymes, and 30 inhibitors.^{29,} These chemical factors either promote can inhibit the activity or of osteoblasts and osteoclasts cells, and thus, the rate at which bone is made, destroyed, repaired, or changed can be regulated.

Type I collagen has fibrous nature. The fundamental subunit is mineralized collagen fibril that consists of self-assembled triple helices of collagen molecules. The cylindrically shaped triple-helix has an average diameter of about 1.5 nm with lengths of 300 nm, and the fibril contains three polypeptide chains with about 1000 amino acids.²³ HAp nanocrystals grow on these self-assembled fibrils, with the crystal c-axes aligned with the fibril long axes.³¹ It is still not entirely understood whether the HAp crystals are directly nucleated on the collagen fibrils, or if the HAp mineralization is directed by other charged macromolecules, which may be associated with the collagen fibrils. Although collagen is believed to be the most important component in controlling bone formation and repair, it should not be the only factor that in the controlling process since collagenous tissues that never mineralize are widely existed in the body. Therefore, the non-collagenous proteins associated with the bone are considered to play an important role in either inhibiting or promoting interactions during crystal nucleation and growth. There are some common features of these proteins, such as highly acidic properties.²¹

The nanocrystalline HAp counts 70% in weight of the bone matrix.³² The basic building blocks are the extremely small plate-shaped crystals, just hundreds of angstroms long and wide with 20-30 angstroms thickness. They are arranged in parallel layers within the collagenous framework. In many bones these layers are organized into larger highly ordered structures from the molecular level to the macroscopic materials.^{18, 33}

Water is another component in the bone materials. It is very important to maintain the mechanical functioning of bone. Mechanical measurements show difference between dry bone and wet bone. The

water exists almost everywhere in the bone.²³

Understanding the biomolecules which are responsible for supporting the growth of tissues is crucial for bone regeneration. Growth factors help in tissue growth and have been tested in different concentrations to seek appropriate method, concentration and correct factors. Otherwise, side effect may happen.³⁴ Growth factors that have been reported to regulate bone tissue including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF),^{35, 36} transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β),³⁷ bone morphogenetic protein (BMP),³⁸⁻⁴⁰ and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs).⁴¹⁻⁴⁵ Growth factors are usually incorporated to different kinds of bone tissue engineering scaffolds to deliver their functions.^{31, 46-49}



Figure 2. Bone structure shows carbonated HAp and collagen, and the surface of HAp.

2.2 Nanostrucuted materials for bone tissue engineering

Bone tissue engineering scaffolds are new emerging approaches for bone regeneration compared to

the traditional orthopaedic implants.⁵⁰⁻⁵⁴ It contains a complex mixture of molecules in three-dimension pattern.^{55, 56} Cell differentiation, proliferation and growth as well as growth factors delivery can be achieved simultaneously to meet the requirements of bone regeneration. Temporary frameworks to support bone regeneration and controlled release growth factors to regulate bone formation are also desired properties for the ideal scaffold. It also needs to have macro and micro porosity, biodegradable or biocompatible property, and good mechanical strength for safe handling, as well as keeping functionality in physical conditions in vivo.⁵⁷⁻⁶⁰ However, most current conventional tissue scaffolds cannot meet these ideal conditions, and suffer from limitations in terms of insufficient fulfillment for requirements of mechanical strength, cell growth promotion, and growth factors release.^{16, 61-63} Compared with conventional materials, nanostructured materials present properties in the aspect of overcoming the current materials limitations. For instance, the presence of nanotubes or nanocrystals in composite materials can improve the mechanical properties for bone tissue engineering materials. Cellular responses to nanomaterials, such as cell attachment, proliferation, and differentiation, can be regulated by the presence of nanostructures. Nanostructured surfaces with chemical modification have shown increased surface energy and wettability for specific purposes, such as enhancement for cell response.⁶⁴ Many studies have also shown that nanostructured surfaces promote inorganic phase mineralization and enhance *in vitro* osteogenesis.⁶⁵ Many research efforts have been made to develop nanostructured bone tissue engineering materials. We will briefly discuss the different materials used for these bone tissue engineering scaffolds.

2.2.1 Natural polymers

Natural polymers are materials obtained from natural sources, such as from animal or vegetal sources. Collagen, fibrinogen, chitosan, starch, hyaluronic acid, and poly(hydroxybutyrate) are commonly used natural polymers for tissue engineering. The main advantages of these materials include low immunogenic potential, the bioactive behavior, chemical versatility, and easy availability.^{61, 66-69} Type I collagen is often used in various kinds of musculoskeletal tissue engineering scaffolds to enhance the

bioactivity, cell response and make the scaffolds more closely mimic the nature tissue's properties. However, other nanostructured materials may need to be added to the collagen scaffolds to further promote the mechanical properties, as well as facilitate other tissue functions.⁷⁰⁻⁷⁶

Recently, numerous research efforts have been dedicated to applying chitosan based materials into bone tissue engineering. It was found that such natural biomaterials has great biocompatibility not only causes less cytotoxicity, but can be facilely processed into various geometries with delicate nanostructures so that cell can growth and form osteoconduction.⁷⁷⁻⁸⁵ For example, HAp/chitosan–pectin (nHCP) composites were synthesized by in situ mineralization of HAp in chitosan–pectin polyelectrolyte complex (PEC) network. Figure 3 shows the nHCP synthesis process. The pH and the chitosan/pectin ratio play an important role in the formation nano-HAp crystals. Results demonstrated site nucleation and the nano-HAp crystals growth along the c-axis, which was probably due to the interfacial interactions between nano-HAp crystal and chitosan–pectin network.⁸⁶ The nano-hydrpxyapatite crystals synthesized with this method have similar size and morphology as that in the nature bone.



Figure 3. Schematic model of nano-HAp crystals synthesis process in the presence of chitosan–pectin PECs network. (reprinted with permission from reference 86).⁸⁶

2.2.2 Synthetic polymers

Synthetic polymers have more advantages than natural polymers because of tunable biodegradation speed, predictable properties, better consistency between batches and they could be easily designed and fabricated accordingly.⁸⁷⁻⁹⁰ Various polymers have been tested for materials design and fabrication.⁹¹⁻¹⁰⁰ Based on the requirement of the bone tissue engineering materials, synthetic polymer materials used as bone scaffolds should meet the following criteria: biocompatibility or biodegradable, suitable chemical and mechanical properties, good stability under physical conditions for bioapplication.¹⁰¹

One of the most frequently used polymer materials in the field of bone tissue engineering are saturated aliphatic polymer materials, including poly (lactic acid) (PLA) and poly (glycolic acid) (PGA), poly (lactic-coglycolide) (PLGA) and their copolymers. They are mostly synthesized by the condensation polymerization method to achieve high molecular weight. ^{7, 101}

Other synthetic polymers utilized for nanostructured bone materials include poly (propylene fumarate) (PPF),¹⁰¹ polyalkylcyanoacrylate,¹⁰² poly (3-hydroxybutanoicacid)(PHB),¹⁰³ poly(organophosphazene)(POP),¹⁰⁴ poly(ethylene glycol)(PEG),¹⁰⁵ poly(caprolactone)(PCL),^{106, 107} poly(ethylene oxide)(PEO),¹⁰⁸ polyanhydrides,¹⁰¹ and copolymers such as PLA-PEG.^{109, 110}

However, the bond between polymers and bone is usually weak, and therefore, hard to form integrated bone tissue eventually. Weak mechanical properties, such as low elastic moduli and a deformation mechanism called creep, is another major drawback that limits synthetic polymers' application in bone tissue engineering. Hence, other materials, usually ceramics, are often used as reinforce agent with polymers, and form composites for bone tissue engineering.^{87, 111, 112}

2.2.3 Metallic nanostructured materials

As the orthopaedic biomaterials currently in use, metals have advantages due to their properties such as strong anti-corrosive, strong strength, and toughness.¹¹³ In the actual production of joint prostheses, titanium, stainless steel based and cobalt alloys are three major types of metal materials that have been used.¹¹⁴ Among which, Ti and its alloys are the most used metallic implant materials.⁶ New generation of alloys, such as Ti15Zr4Nb4Ta and Ti29Nb13Ta4.6Zr, have improved corrosion resistance,

Journal of Materials Chemistry B Accepted Manuscript

mechanical properties, and cytocompatibility, and do not contain the potentially cytotoxic elements V and Al.¹¹⁵



Figure 4. AuNPs modified with heterobifunctional PEG derivatives bone mineral targeting (reprinted with permission from reference 116).¹¹⁶

Gold-containing nanoparticles (AuNPs) attracted great attention because of many various biomedical applications, including imaging, diagnostics and drug delivery, especially in cancer.¹¹⁷ Gold nanoparticles can also been used in tissue engineering recently. Damaged bone tissue can be targeted by functionalizing AuNPs with molecules exhibiting affinity for calcium.^{116, 118} For example, in Figure 4, AuNPs were modified with heterobifunctional PEG derivatives for bone mineral targeting. One end of the PEG was modified with thiol group to form stable self-assembled monolayers on gold. On the other end of the PEG molecule, a bisphosphonate was attached to allow the targeting of HAp rich tissues, such as bone. In another similar study, Ross et al. reported using AuNPs functionalized with either carboxylate (l-glutamic acid), phosphonate (2-aminoethylphosphonic acid), or bisphosphonate (alendronate) for targeted labeling of damaged bone tissue compared to undamaged tissue. Biris et al. designed a new nanocomposite material containing graphenes layers and Au/HAp nanoparticles by chemical vapor deposition.¹²⁰ The resulting multicomponent nanocomposite material had good biocompatibility and could induce excellent

bone cellular proliferation. This composite material can potentially be used as bone tissue engineering scaffolds considering the excellent biocompatibility, 3D structure, and composition.

Silver is a broad spectrum antibacterial agent and it is used in both ionic and metallic forms as nanoparticles in colloidal solutions. The antimicrobial activity is achieved by disruption of bacterial cell membranes and inhibition of many cell activities, such as enzymatic activities, ATP production within ion transport processes and DNA replication. Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) have better antibacterial activity due to the huge relative surface. AgNPs have been reported about their antimicrobial effects on different bacterial strains of clinical relevance.¹²¹ Nanocomposites including silver nanoparticles as the antimicrobial nanomaterial have been developed.¹²²⁻¹²⁶ HAp and AgNPs nanocomposite combines the bioactivity of the ceramic matrix with the antibacterial activity of the AgNPs, makes this material an excellent candidate for bone replacement, bone filling and bone repair surgery applications.¹²⁷ For example, an alginate/HAp composite scaffold with AgNPs was prepared with average pore sizes of 341.5 um and porosity of 80%. The incorporation of AgNPs was indicated by the color change from white to yellow-brown color. In vitro biological tests demonstrated that silver did not affect the ability of the scaffolds to promote osteoblasts proliferation and that at the same time it exerted a strong bactericidal effect against bacterial strains.¹²¹ Stanic et al synthesized silver doped HAp NPs, and antimicrobial studies on theses NPs showed that the silver-doped HAp samples exhibited better antimicrobial activity in vitro than the HAp NPs alone.¹²⁵ As shown in Figure 5, AgNPs significantly inhibited the growth of *E. coli* after the microbial contacted the silver-doped HAp scaffolds.

Journal of Materials Chemistry B Accepted Manuscrip



Figure 5. The percentage of microorganism (E. coli) reduction (R) 1h, 2h, 3, and 4h after contact. Silver: Ag; Synthetic hydroxyapatite, HAp; The ratios of Ca+Ag and HAp in AgHAp1, AgHAp2, and AgHAp3 scaffold were 1.64, 1.62 and 1.63, respectively. (reprinted with permission from reference 125).¹²⁵

There are two major concerns in the using of the metallic materials for orthopaedics. The first one is that the release of the metals over long term may cause toxicity issues; and the other is that the metallic materials are not bioactive.^{113, 128} Two methods can be applied to improve the bioactivity of metals for bone tissue engineering. The first one is to coat the metal surface of the implant with a bioactive ceramic (such as HAp), and the second one is to chemically modify the surface of the material, so that the metallic materials would more easily induce cell adhesion or protein attachment *in vivo*.^{114, 129}

2.2.4 Inorganic nanomaterials

Calcium phosphates are the main inorganic phase in nature bone. Therefore, they are the major inorganic materials that have been considered to fabricate tissue scaffolds for bone substitution and regeneration.^{81, 130-136} The advantages of the calcium phosphates in bone tissue engineering include non-

toxicity, biocompatibility, and bioactivity, and can form strong bond with nature bone.^{137, 138} The bioactive behavior of calcium phosphates was reflected by their osteoconductive activity and temporary framework for bone cell growth, as well as induce of osteoblasts adhesion and proliferation.¹³⁹ Calcium phosphate cements (CPCs) are one of the most developed bone repair and regeneration materials, due to their self-setting, easily-shaped capability, biocompatibility, osteoconductivity and osteoinductivity properties.¹⁴⁰ Loading bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2) into scaffold has been largely reported as another efficient way to obtain osteoinductivity and enhance bone repair and reconstruction.¹⁴⁰ In the future, the criteria for improving CPCs include modification of the chemical and physical properties, as well as enhancement of the bioactivity by loading growth factors.¹⁴¹

Silica-based materials have been of particular interest due to their bio-inertness and better biocompatibility.^{80, 82, 142-145} Mesoporous silica with their reactive surface functional (Si–OH) groups can serve as nucleation sites and help initial cell adherence. The surface roughness, porosity, and geometry of the scaffolds are considered as key determinants in promoting the phenotypic and genotypic expression of cells. This property is invaluable in bone tissue engineering. Thus far, mesoporous silica scaffolds for bone tissue engineering have been fabricated using evaporation-induced, self-assembly, and sol–gel techniques.¹⁴⁶

Another family of inorganic materials used for bone tissue engineering is bioactive glasses, which are composed mainly of silica, and modified by the Ca, Na, or P additives.^{21, 117, 147} These materials are suitable for bone tissue engineering because of their high biocompatibility, positive biological effects, low toxicity, and good integration with nature bone. However, the insufficient mechanical properties of bioglasses limit their further application in the bone tissue engineering scaffolds. Nowadays, the bioglasses are usually reinforced with mechanically strength materials and osteogenic agents to form bone tissue engineering scaffolds, which would present a physically strong and bioactive bone tissue replacement and regeneration candidate material.

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) have attracted much research attention because of their excellent physical, electrical and chemical properties. CNTs have been widely used in biomedical engineering fields.¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵² They have been reported to have the functions of improving mechanical properties; interacting with growth factors; enhancing cell adhesion and cell shape regulation; and controlling stem cell differentiation. One particular property of CNTs is the electrical property, which can be used to investigate the electrical stimulation effects of cells. The tubular structure and the nano-scale features of CNTs make them the good substitution of the fibrillar collagen proteins in the ECM. Figure 6 showed the influences of carbon nanotube with various diameter and type on osteogenic or proliferative outcomes.¹⁸ Significant studies of the potential use of CNTs in bone tissue engineering have been discussed in Newman's review article.¹⁸ The chemical properties of CNTs can be chemically modified by adding functional groups. For example, adding carboxyl or alcohol groups onto the walls of CNTs have been reported. The chemically modified CNTs have better dispersion in water and enhanced affinity with calcium and thus easier to form bone mineral.



Figure 6. The influences of carbon nanotube with various diameter and type on osteogenic or proliferative outcomes. The data represented positive (pos.), negative (neg.), positive P < 0.05 (stat.sig.pos.), negative P < 0.05 (stat.sig.neg.), and neutral or not reported (NR). SWCNT: Single-walled carbon nanotube; MWCNT: Multi-walled carbon nanotube. Carboxyl groups (COOH) was used to conjugate with other active groups. (reprinted with permission from reference 18).¹⁸

2.2.5 Nanocomposite materials

The natural bone is a composite material with both inorganic and organic phases. The organic phase possesses bioactivity, and the inorganic materials enhance the mechanical properties of the organic materials. The desired bone composite scaffold should have the advantages from both organic and inorganic phases.⁶³ The most obvious choice of materials for a synthetic analogue of bone would be a collagen-HAp composite which mimics the natural bone matrix⁷¹. Both components render the necessary mechanical strength, and HAp would confer the necessary bioactivity to collagen.²¹ The other biopolymers and synthetic polymers also used to form composite materials HAp nanocrystals.^{85, 153-157}

Based on the component of nature bone, nature biopolymer and HAp composite materials are the most obvious option. For example, bacterial cellulose/HAp nanocomposites for bone healing applications were fabricated using a bio-inspred approach. Briefly, bacterial cellulose was negatively charged by the adsorption of carboxymethyl cellulose to initiate nucleation of calcium-deficient HAp (cdHAp), which resulted in increased cell attachment.⁸ In recent years, chitosan included composite materials have been widely used in the field of bone tissue engineering, ^{149, 158, 159} especially of the chitosan and HAp composite, because of the excellent biodegradability of chitosan, and the bioactivity of HAp.⁷⁷ The other composite materials could be fabricated with polymer and carbon nanotubes, ¹⁶⁰ polymer and HAp,^{157, 161} polymer and bioactive glass,¹⁶² etc.

2.3 Fabrication of nanostructured materials for bone tissues

2.3.1 Nanofiber

Nanofibrous scaffolds are one of the most used materials for bone tissue engineering.^{56, 163, 164} Due to the architectural, functional and morphological similarities to the collagen fibrils in bone, nanofibrous scaffolds are one of the most reasonable design for bone tissue engineering.¹⁶⁵ Woo et al. designed a 3D PLA nanofibrous scaffold to improve protein absorption and enhance cell attachment on the scaffold.¹⁶⁶ Furthermore, cell shape and morphology and cell spreading can also be affected by the presence of the nanofibrous scaffold.¹⁶⁷

Electrospining is one of the most used techniques to fabricate nanofibers. For instance, tetraethyl

orthosilicate, polyvinyl pyrrolidone, and the tri-block copolymer P-123 were mixed to fabricate continuous ordered mesoporous silica nanofibers by electrospinning method. The resulting scaffolds had a combination of multi-level porous structures, from micro- to macro-scale. The porous nanofibrous morphology showed bioactivity as demonstrated by the proliferation of human osteoblast-like cells (MG63).¹⁴⁶ A PCL nanofiber was fabricated by electrospinning and blended with silica nanoparticles, which were used to improve the polymers' mechanical property and bioactivity.¹⁶⁸



Figure 7. SEM micrographs of nano-fibrous scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. (a) the electrospun PLGA nano-fibrous structure. (b) electrospun PCL scaffolds. (c) and (d) a PLA fibrous matrix prepared by phase seperation technique. (c) $500 \times$ and (d) $20K \times$ (reprinted with permission from reference 165).¹⁶⁵

HAp/alginate nanocomposite fibrous scaffolds were fabricated via electrospinning¹⁶⁹ and in situ synthesis of HAp that mimics mineralized collagen fibrils in bone tissue. This novel process resulted in a uniform deposition of HAp nanocrystals on the nanofibers, overcoming the severe agglomeration of HAp

nanoparticles processed by the conventional mechanical blending/electrospinning method. The nanofibrous topography combined with the hybridization of HAp and alginate can be advantageous in bone tissue regenerative medicine applications.¹⁵⁵ Self-assembly and phase separation are also used to fabricate nanofibers for bone tissue engineering.¹⁶⁵ Figure 7 shows fibrous nanomaterials for bone tissue engineering fabricated by electrospun and phase separation.

2.3.2 Nanoparticles

HAp nanocrystals are the main inorganic content in bone. Therefore, HAp nanoparticles are widely used in bone tissue engineering materials. It plays a very important role in supporting the bone structure and maintaining the mechanical strength. As a bioactive material, it extensively interacts and regulates the cell activity in bone.¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁷³

Figure 8. A two-step HAp nanoparticle synthesis process. TEM images (bottom left) of the HAp nanoparticles used to prepare mineral-containing scaffolds. SEM image (bottom right) showing the HAp nanoparticles on the scaffold surface, and arrows point to individual particles (reprinted with permission from reference 171).¹⁷¹

HAp nanoparticles were synthesized by a precipitation and hydrothermal aging process as shown by Figure 8. Briefly, the first step was a typical precipitation reaction between a calcium salt and a phosphate

salt. Then a hydrothermal aging of the precipitate was used to obtain HAp particles with a narrow size distribution, as the TEM image showed. Porous mineral-containing scaffolds with PLGA and these HAp nanoparticles were fabricated by a gas-foaming/particulate leaching technique.¹⁷¹ In another study, HAp nanoparticles were incorporated into PPF scaffolds, and showed improved the surface properties of PPF/ HAp composite scaffolds. The scaffolds had increased roughness and hydrophilicity, and showed significant protein adsorption and initial cell attachment.¹⁷⁰

Other kinds of nanoparticles, such as gold,^{117, 118} silver,^{121, 124} titanium dioxide,¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁶ silica,^{168, 177} and magnetic nanoparticles^{79, 178} are also involved in bone tissue engineering materials, for targeting drug delivery, reinforced strength, and controlling purposes.

2.3.3 Nanogels

Cross-linking is one of the most used methods to create nanogels for bone tissue engineering.¹⁷⁹⁻¹⁸³ A biodegradable nanogel containing cholesteryl group- and acryloyl group-bearing pullulan (CHPOA) and thiol-bearing PEG (PEG-SH) were fabricated to deliver two different growth factors, BMP2 and recombinant human FGF18. The CHPOA and PEG-SH are shown by Figure 9a, and they were cross-linked by thiol linkage. The nanogels were used for bone repair, which sustainably released two growth factors and strongly promoted the cell activities. Sustained release of multiple growth factors represent a future direction for the development of scaffolds for bone tissue engineering.¹⁸⁴

A starch/N-vinylpyrrolidone nanogel has been synthesized by γ -radiation-induced graft copolymerization and crosslinking process. HAp nanocrystals were introduced to the nanogel via in situ deposition. The obtained hydrogel/HAp nanogel showed good bioactive and biocompatible properties in *in vitro* tests.¹⁸⁵

Figure 9. (a) Synthesis of the CHPOA/PEG-SH hydrogel and their chemical structure. (b) Releasing of the FGF18 and BMP2 as the hydrogel degrades. (reprinted with permission from reference 184).¹⁸⁴

2.3.4 Nanocomposite scaffolds

In situ synthesis of the HAp nanocrystals is one of the most used methods to incorporate the HAp into the nanocomposites. For example, different kinds of HAp and chitosan nanocomposites have been synthesized by in situ precipitation process. ^{85, 86, 149, 169}

Many composites were prepared by sol-gel method.^{5, 154} The HAp and polymer nanocomposites were prepared using the templates of self-assembling Pluronic F127.⁵ The HAp precursor was mixed with the polymer solution, and precipitated in the polymer gelation induced by temperature change. As shown in Figure 10, citrate molecules were also used to control the nanocrystals' size in this process. The crystals' size would be reduced by increasing citrate concentration.

Figure 10. Nanocomposite formed by HAp nanocrystals precipitates on the self-assembled PEO-PPO block copolymers. NMR spectra showed that higher citrate concentration will reduced the size of HAp nanocrystal (reprinted with permission from reference 5).⁵

A biomimetic gelatin-amorphous calcium phosphate nanocomposite scaffold was fabricated by a double diffusion method under physiological condition; the experiment is shown in Figure 11. The resulting nanocomposite scaffolds had a 3D microporous structure, and nanocrystalline calcium phosphates were distributed among the gelatin matrix evenly. After incubation at 37°C for 5 days, the calcium phosphate was converted to HAp nanocrystal.¹⁸⁶

Solution casting followed by particle leaching is the conventional method frequently used to fabricate polymer/bioceramic composites.¹⁵³ For example, nanocomposite scaffolds of PCL and forsterite nanopowder were fabricated by this method, with improved mechanical properties, bioactivity, biodegradability, and cytotoxicity.¹⁸⁷

Figure 11. (a) Schematic view of the double diffusion method for calcium phosphate formation in a gelatin gel (b) formation of white calcium phosphate precipitate within gelatin matrix (reprinted with permission from reference 186).¹⁸⁶

Cross-linking can also be used to fabricate tissue engineering nanocomposites.¹⁸⁸ Two 3-D nanocomposite porous materials were reported, based on collagen type I and beta-tricalcium phosphate nanopowder and the selection of the best-method for their chemical cross-linking using 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethyl aminopropyl)carbodiimide hydrochloride.¹⁸⁹

2.4 Clinical trials of nanostructured materials in bone tissue engineering

Clinical translation of nanostructured bone tissue engineering scaffolds is the ultimate purposes of the materials development. Currently, the clinical challenges are the insufficient vascularization, weak mechanical strength, and bone infection management.⁸⁷ Therefore, the current research attention is mainly focused on improving the scaffolds bioactivity, biocompatibility and mechanical properties.

However, there are developments in the clinical trials. For example, the clinical trial using

autologous bone marrow stromal cells showed an exciting outcome of functional bone recovery after 6-7 years of the implantation. The host bone maintained well and the recovered bone had good osseointegration. The only concern is the possibility of long term infection. As one of the mostly used materials for bone tissue engineering, collagen based scaffolds, such as BMP-2 or BMP-7-loaded InFuse bone graft (Medtronic Sofamor Danek), and OSIGRAFT (Stryker Biotech) have been reported with successful early stage in clinical trial.⁸⁷ The clinical trials of nano-HAp/polymer composites have been reported with successful material-cell interactions.¹⁹⁰ A type I collagen–HAp composite that mimics the nature bone was obtained by precipitating HAp nanoparticles on the collagen fibrils. In the clinical study, MRI evaluation has confirmed good early stability of the implanted biomaterial after 6 months of implantation. The further systematic evaluation is necessary to determine the clinical and morphological outcome.¹⁹¹

Overall, there is a great progress as well as great potential in the clinical trial of nanostructured materials for bone tissue engineering. There are also many unanswered questions and unsolved problems waiting in the future. Further fundamental understandings in both the life sciences and materials sciences are needed to develop successful bone regeneration materials.¹⁹⁰

2.5 Summary

As the major part of musculoskeletal tissues, bone supports and protects the other organs of the body. The osteogenic and osteoclastic balance of bone determines the complexities and difficulties of bone tissue engineering. Many scaffolds with adequate mechanic strength fail in mimicking the natural functions of bone. Although these scaffolds possess good mechanic properties, they can't achieve refreshment of nutrients and metabolites before vascularization. The thickness of wall and deepness of pore in the scaffolds influence the exchange of cells within the microenvironment, resulting in weak adherence, low proliferation, premature differentiation of seeded cell, even the death of the cells.

Although there have been substantial developments in using nanostructured materials for bone tissue engineering in recent years, current and new challenges need to be further evaluated and overcome to develop a commercial tissue engineered bone eventually. The first priority is to further understand the bone biology, such as the growth factors interactions between each other and within cells. Researchers should further investigate the growth mechanism of natural bone, especially signal regulation of bone. With better understanding of bone biology, the better biomimetic scaffolds for bone tissue engineering could be designed and achieved. Materials science and engineering are the second aspect that needs to be improved for developing new generation of bone replacement materials. New materials with biocompability, biodegradability, osteoinductivity, mechanical properties, microarchitecture including porosity and surface properties are favorable for bone tissue engineering.⁸⁷ Finally, the scaffold processing techniques need to be improved.⁶¹ Nanotechnology and nanomaterials alone may not be sufficient to improve all the aspects. An optimized scaffold could be a comprehensive product based on combination of several materials and techniques in the future.¹⁹⁰

3. Nanostructured materials for cartilage tissue engineering

3.1 Cartilage and associated microenvironment clues

Cartilage is a flexible but strong supportive connective tissue including the joints between bones, the rib cage, the bronchial tubes, and the intervertebral discs. Cartilage is composed of specialized cells called chondroblasts that can produce a large amount of extracellular matrix, such as collagen fibers and elastic fibers, embedded in a rubbery ground substance rich in proteoglycan. According to the different fiber composition in cartilage tissues, cartilage can be divided into three different categories: hyaline cartilage, fibrocartilage and elastic fibers. Among them, the hyaline cartilage has a wide distribution and typical structure. The surface of the cartilage in the body is coated by perichondrium which is a membrane of dense irregular connective tissue. It can be transformed into bone periosteum when it is replaced by cartilage. Cartilage cells can continuously produce new cartilage matrix, all cells are surrounded by cartilage capsule respectively. Cartilage mucin, mainly composed of acid glycosamine glycan, is the primary component in transparent cartilage matrix. Although there are no blood vessels in the cartilage,

Journal of Materials Chemistry B Accepted Manuscript

the cartilage matrix contains enough water. Therefore, nutrients can easily penetrate into matrix. Collagen accounts for about 40% of the organic composition of cartilage. Cartilage capsule contains less collagen, but it has more chondroitin sulfate because the matrix is rich in collagen fiber. Perichondrium can protect the cartilage and provide the nutrient to it. Therefore, it plays an important role in the growth of cartilage.

There are many cartilage seed cells which can produce cytokines including as cartilage derived morphogenetic protein 1 and 2 (CDMP-1 and -2), BMP, TGF- β , insulin like factor (IGF), FGF as well as the newly-discovered growth factors in cartilage tissue. The studies have confirmed that growth factors such as IGF-I, TGF- β 1, BMP-7, and platelet-derived growth factor AB (PDGF-AB), can regulate the metabolism and growth of chondrocyte. The inclusion of serum, IGF-I, and BMP-7 can stimulate proteoglycan deposition and decrease tensile integrity of cartilage. The combination of various cytokines may further improve the formation of cartilage when they are mixed in the scaffold materials.

3.2 Materials for cartilage tissue engineering

3.2.1 Natural polymeric nanomaterials

As a major component of connective tissue, collagen gives connective tissue strength and flexibility. Yuan *et al.* constructed scaffold of artificial cartilage using collagen type I.¹⁹² After cultured *in vitro* for 7, 14, and 28 days, they implanted neonatal rabbit chrondrocytes into hydrogel matrix. They found that collagen type I may play a role as immunomodulatory factor in the formation of cartilage. In recent years, the chitin nanocomposite has been widely used in cartilage tissue engineering. When chitin composite scaffolds have been placed into tissue defect, the scaffolds only lead to negligible foreign body rejection. Many neutrophils gathered around graft, but they dissipated quickly without chronic inflammation and fibrous tissue hyperplasia. Gilbert's group evaluated the potential use of chitosan, a natural derivatives of chitin, as scaffold material for cartilage tissue engineering. The porcine chondrocytes were cultured *in vitro* up to 28 days; the cells adhered on the surface of chitosan scaffolds and maintained their normal morphology. After 18-day culture, the chondrocytes began to synthesize extracellular matrix such as proteoglycan and collagen type II.¹⁹³ Jiang *et al.* designed a novel silk-fibroin peptide

(SGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGS) hydrogel for 3D culture of chondrocytes *in vitro*.¹⁹⁴ The studies included the morphology characteristic of cells, DNA content analysis, and histological and immune-histochemistry staining. The data confirmed that the fibroin hydrogel induced collagen type II and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) in the chondrocytes. Deena et al. tried to regulate the mechanical performance of PEG and agarose interpenetrating network (IPN) hydrogels for cartilage tissue scaffolds.¹⁹⁵ Their results supported that the viability of encapsulated chondrocytes was not significantly affected by IPN formulation, compared to the scaffolds with just agarose (Figure 12).

Figure 12. Images of (a) agarose and (b) IPN with a ration of agarose and PEG-diacrylate (1:10) 24 h after encapsulation, and (c) an IPN 3 weeks after encapsulation. Live cells were stained green with Calcein AM (green), while dead cells were stained red with ethidium homodimer-1. Scale bars = $50 \mu m$ (reprinted with permission from reference 195).¹⁹⁵

3.2.2 Synthetic polymeric nanomaterials

The poly- α -hydroxy esters family, including PLA, PGA and their copolymers PLGA, are widely used materials in cartilage tissue engineering, due to their excellent biodegradability and biocompatibility.¹⁹⁶⁻²⁰⁴ Scaffolds made of these polymers are easy to modify their properties. A major drawback of synthetic polymers is the insufficient bioactivity. Yoo *et al.* found that addition of the hyaluronic acid (HA) into PLGA can increase the cartilage cell adhesion and synthesis of glycosaminoglycans (GAG) and collagen.²⁰¹ Wu *et al.* confirmed that appropriate proportion of porous poly (acrylic ester/chitosan) composite scaffolds has better biological characteristics than pure porous poly propylene carbonate.²⁰² It can not only enhance cell adhesion, proliferation, but promote the generation of type II collagen. Sarasam et al. reported that chitosan/PCL nanocomposite has good mechanical properties.²⁰³ PHB originally isolated from bacteria has piezoelectric effect. However PHB is fragile and unstable when it is heated. Other properties such as long degradation time, bad plasticity and mechanical strength limited its clinical application. Some researchers modified the PHB in principal chain with the pentanoic acid (PHV) to form the PHBV copolymer and improve its performance.²⁰³

3.2.3 Composite nanomaterials

Composite materials, including natural biological polymers, artificial synthetic polymers and their combinations, may possess good optimized structure and biological features and may be more feasible to develop artificial cartilage. Yamane *et al.* found that the hydrogel made with chitosan and hyaluronic acid can maintain cell phenotype when inoculated with chondrocyte.²⁰⁵ The composite hydrogel can also generate type II collagen and proteoglycan. After that, Hsu *et al.* implanted chondrocyte into chitosan/alginate/sodium hyaluronate composite scaffolds which were modified with arginyl-glycyl-aspartate peptide, it was reported that cartilage cells grew well on the scaffolds and excreted redundant glycosaminoglycans and type II collagen.²⁰⁶

Nečas's group has studied the mechanical response of porous scaffold for cartilage engineering. They investigated the effect of hyaluronic acid, HAp nanoparticles or chitosan nanofibers on the mechanical response of the lyophilized scaffold of cross-linked type I collagen. The data supported that hyaluronic acid significantly reduced the tensile elastic modulus and increase the strength whereas HAp nanoparticles and chitosan nanoparticles increased the elastic modulus of scaffold. In addition, chitosan also increased cell growth comparing to the type I collagen alone *in vitro* and extended its resorption more than 10 weeks.²⁰⁷ Kuo *et al.* designed polyethylene oxide (PEO)/chitin/chitosan composite scaffold with different ratios, and analyzed the effect of components changes on the porosity of scaffolds.²⁰⁸ As shown in ternary phase diagrams (Fig. 13), it was found that the composite scaffold had better bioactivity and elasticity than single-composition scaffold.

Figure 13. Porosity changes of the chitosan/PEO/chitin scaffolds in ternary phase diagrams. Note: the data were calculated by mean value of all compositions (n=3), and the axes indicated the weight percentage of the various components (reprinted with permission from reference 208).²⁰⁸

Iwasaki *et al* designed an artificial scaffold by mixing polysaccharide hybrid materials containing ployion complex with alginate and chitosan.²⁰⁹ The studies have been confirmed that alginated-based chitosan was excellent material for chondrocytes adhesion. In addition, morphologic studies indicated that the round morphology of chondrocytes was maintained and the dense fiber of the type II collagen was excreted in the hybrid polymer (Figure 14).

Figure 14. Adherences of rabbit articular chondrocytes on alginate/chitosan nanofibers after 14 days of culture. The typical round shape of the chondrocyte and the dense fiber of the type II collagen were showed on the nanofiberous scaffolds (reprinted with permission from reference 209).²⁰⁹

Gu *et al.* mixed CDMP-2 and TGF- β into PLGA scaffolds and observed the influence of scaffold on the excretion of collagen type I and II by the myoblasts.²¹⁰ Twelve weeks after implantation, the compressive moduli of artificial implant reached 85.7% of the health meniscus with a high level of glycoaminoglycan content. Jung *et al.* observed the effects of local BMP-7 release from PLGA scaffold on the repair of osteochondral defects in rabbits.²¹¹ Their results also confirmed that the composite material containing BMP-7 in the scaffold of PLGA matrix might be a potential candidate for osteochondral repair. Ab-Rahim *et al.* compared the difference of extracellular matrix expression between superior alginate matrix with or without TGF- β 1 and monolayer culture system.²¹² The results demonstrated the alginate construct can significantly increase the level of glycosaminoglycan/mg protein in the matrix than monolayer cultures.

3.3 Fabrication of nanostructured materials for cartilage tissue engineering

3.3.1 Nanofiberous materials

There are three methods mainly used to fabricate nanofiberous materials for cartilage tissue engineering: electrospinning, phase separation, and self-assembly.²¹³⁻²¹⁶ Electrospinning is a classical technique used widely for nanofibers fabrication (Figure 15).^{209, 217} Nanofibers for cartilage tissue

engineering can be easily produced from various polymers solution.^{218, 219} Generally, synthetic polymers are more convenient for electrospinning fabrication.²²⁰ Polymer composition, such as ratios of different polymers, and salt additives are used to regulate the electrospinning process.²²¹ In alginate/chitosan composite fibers, the added poly (ethylene oxide) (PEO) enhanced the chain entanglements and reduced the conductivity of the charged polysaccharide solution. PEO can be removed using water clearance after the fibrous structure formed.²²² Gelatin and collagen were electrospun to form nanofibrous structure with diameters of 100nm, which are similar to native cartilage.²²³ Other synthetic polymers, including PCL, PLA, copolymers of P(EG-CL), P(LA-CL), and PLGA, have also been used in the electrospinning process for cartilage tissue engineering.

Figure 15. The spinning process of alginate fiber coated with chitosan (reprinted with permission from reference 209).²⁰⁹

Casper et al. seeded periosteal cells into ploy- ε -caprolactone nanofiber scaffolds to prepare artificial cartilage tissue.²²⁴ Results confirmed that cell can infiltrate into entire scaffolds. They also found that chitosan significantly decreased the production of GAG and cartilage yield. There was no statistically difference in GAG content and cartilage yield between TGF- β -injected matrix and TGF- β free matrix. However, TGF- β was benefit to the mineral deposition but chitosan decreased the level of that.

Figure 16. SEM images and photographs of PLCL scaffolds. PLCL nanofiber sheet by electrospinning(A), followed salt-leaching (B), PLCL scaffold by rolling (5 mm in diameter and 3 mm in thickness in left section) (C) and PLCL scaffold with a high magnification(D) (reprinted with permission from reference 225).²²⁵

Figure 17. Macroscopic appearance of the defect site and histological staining of cryo-section in rabbit knee tissue four months after implantation. (A) Control group (partial defects), (B) only PLCL scaffold, (C) PLCL scaffold with chondrocytes, (D) only PLCL scaffold/hydrogel, and (E) PLCL scaffold/hydrogel/ chondrocytes. The arrows point to the borders of initial defect sites (reprinted with permission from reference 225).²²⁵

Kim et al. prepared a composite system with poly (L-lactide- co-ɛ-carprolactone) (PLCL) scaffolds and heparin-based hydrogel to combine the advantages of nanofibrous and hydrogel to mimic cartilage microenvironment for seeded cells.²²⁵ Gelatin-mixed PLCL was similar to natural cartilage while heparinbased gel provided chondracytes survival conditions (Figure 16 and 17).

3.3.2 Nanoparticles materials

Recently, nanoparticles system has been extensively used to control the release of growth factors in the cartilage scaffolds.^{92, 226-229} Particle size, charge, morphology and release behavior of loaded molecules can be regulated for different applications.²³⁰ Nanoparticles fabricated from both natural and synthetic polymers have been used for cartilage tissue engineering.

Weber *et al.* proved that the porous PLGA particles could slowly release the loaded-BMP, resulting in enhancement of regeneration of cartilage *in vivo*.²³¹ Nanoparticles made from natural polymer gelatin also showed a sustained release of the loaded TGF- β over an experimental period of 28 days.²²⁹ Surface modification of nanoparticles can be achieved by covalent binding between surface and functional molecules or polymers and layer-by-layer assembly.²³² Ertan *et al.* controlled the release of IGF-1 and TGF- β 1 to promote the growth of BMSCs and induce the cells differentiation into chondrocytes in the PLGA and poly(N-isopropylacrylamine) (ONIPAM) matrix.²³³ On polystyrene tissue culture system, TGF- β 1 promoted the proliferation while IGF-1 induced differentiation. The combination of two growth factors yielded the improved results such as collagen type II and aggrecan. In another study, Wang's group investigated the effects of exogenous bFGF on the repair of full-thickness articular cartilage defects in rabbits. The results demonstrated that fast release of bFGF stimulated the production of TGF- β 2, VEGF, BMP-2, 3, 4 and bFGF. In addition, the existence of chondrocytes-like cells was observed at early stage of cartilage regeneration (Figure 18).²³⁴

Figure 18. The graft of the membrane and schematic summarization of the grafting position and bFGF release from the membranes in two implantation direction. (A) graft of the double-layered collagen membrane. (B and C) Schematic summarization of the membrane graft and bFGF release profiles. (B) The loose layer or (C) The dense layer facing the subchondral bone. The blus dots indicate nanoaprticles loaded with bFGF (reprinted with permission from reference 234).²³⁴

3.3.3 Nanogels

Cross-linking by regulation of composition and reaction condition is the main method used to fabricate nanogels of artificial cartilage tissue. Photopolymerization by ultraviolet or visible light were also initiated to form hydrogels.²³⁵ PEG can promote chondrogenesis after crosslinking into hydrogels.²³⁶ Recently, degradable PLA added with PEG improved cell growth and ECM excretion.²³⁶⁻²³⁹ Similarly, alginate can prepare stable ionically crosslinked nanogels through crosslinking. Researchers have modified alginate gels with synthetic adhesion peptides ²⁴⁰ or conjugated alginate with other materials to produce hybrid cartilage scaffolds. ^{209, 241, 242} Although the modified alginate nanogels have many advantages for chondrogenesis, they also have limitations such as low mechanical strength and slow degradation. Furthermore, the exchange of growth factors and metabolites from hydrogel into microenvironment still impact its clinical trials. Small molecules can easily penetrate through the network of hydrogels and consequently interact with cells in hydrogel. Therefore, nanoparticles loading with growth factors can be tethered for a sustained release when they were encapsulated in hydrogel.^{228, 243, 244}

3.3.4 Nanocomposite scaffolds

Hydrogels have been widely used in cartilage tissue engineering due to their biological similarity with highly hydrated natural tissues. However, the feasibility of hydrogel in the clinical applications is not existed due to its poor mechanical properties. Composite scaffolds can overcome the disadvantages of hydrogel to mimic natural biological tissue structures. Some composite scaffolds fabricated with biomacromolecules such as alginate and collagen with polymer meshes have been developed in cartilage tissue engineering and shown positive results.²⁴⁵ The most popular method for creating a nanocomposite cartilage tissue scaffold is incorporation of fibers within a bulk hydrogel system and layering fibers within gels. Tan *et al.* fabricated a porous scaffold composed of gelatin/chitosan/hyaluronan ternary complex by the freeze-drying technique.²⁴⁶ Other researchers found that the emulsion coating technique could delay the TGF- β release by changing the copolymer composition of the coating.²⁴⁷ Nela Buchtova *et al.* designed mesoporous silica nanofibers interlinked with siloxane modified polysaccharide for cartilage tissue engineering.²⁴⁸ Recently, sponge-like scaffolds fabricated by collagen, glycosaminoglycan, or native cartilage extracellular matrix components have been reported to induce the chondrogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs).^{249, 250}

3.4 Clinical trials of nanomaterials in cartilage tissue engineering

The clinical translation and feasibility of scaffold-based cartilage tissue engineering need to be considered in many aspects. Currently, the clinical use of these materials is limited by the risk of disease transmission and immunological repulsion. Future research should mainly focus on investigation and evaluation of tissue-engineering approaches to design artificial cartilage.

At present, the nanostructured scaffolds have made steady progress in the development of cartilage tissue engineering. Collagen- and hyaluronan-based matrices are the most popular natural scaffolds in clinical trials.²⁵¹⁻²⁵³ Peterson *et al.* reported that autologous chondrocyte transplantation in dissecans lesions of the knee produced an integrated repair tissue with successful clinical results few years later.²⁵⁴ Cherubio *et al.* also suggested that autologous chondrocyte implantation using collagen nanomatrix had the advantages of easy operation and lower immunogenisity.²⁵⁵ In some random clinical trials, Gudas *et*

al. demonstrated that autologous osteochondral transplantation has good clinical results 10 years after implantation.²⁵⁶ Schaefer *et al.* seeded bovine articular chondrocytes into a PGA mesh scaffold, which transformed well-developed cartilaginous-like tissues.²⁵⁷ In addition, the seeded cells maintained their individual phenotypes during the composite culture and formed a well-defined cartilage-bone interface.

3.5 Summary

Overall, nanostructured materials used for cartilage tissue engineering have made great progress in the past decades and hold tremendous impact for future clinical applications. Compared with bone, cartilage is more flexible connective tissue and does not need the vascularization after implantation. The thickness of cartilage is also thinner than that of bone, which is easier to refresh the nutrients and metabolites for cell survival by diffusion mechanisms. Artificial cartilage should contain more proteoglycan and elastin fibers, and induce the excretion of these compositions by seeded cell. Nanocomposites scaffolds may mimic the composition and structure of natural cartilage. Due to the recent developments, nanomaterials have the ability to guide cartilage tissue cells. Surface of the nanostructured material is similar to natural ECM, which can further improve cell adhesion and biocompatibility of the material.

However, there are shortcomings of nanostructured cartilage scaffolds, either natural or synthetic. The flow mechanics in the matrix is real challenge. Despite the remarkable progress in nanomaterials, current available techniques are not able to fully restore particular cartilage. As we have mentioned above, it is essential to combine several suitable materials and techniques to fabricate scaffolds. Through the combination of new techniques, such as 3D printing, the scaffold properties can be greatly improved. The imaging technique might also help us to monitor the refreshment of humor liquid in the nanostructured cartilage matrix. Smarter software of computer simulation might calculate the dynamic behavior of solid, liquid substance in the matrix, and help us to generate an ideal artificial cartilage replacement tissue.

4. Nanostructured materials for muscle tissue engineering

4.1 Muscle and associated microenvironment clues

As the largest part of the human body, skeletal muscle tissue is of great importance.²⁵⁸ It controls voluntary movement, and maintains the structural contours.^{259, 260} Muscle is composed of bundles of muscle fibers, which are multinucleated organization of cells derived from myoblasts. Muscle fibers consist of a longitudinal arrangement of myofilaments with actin and myosin as major components.^{261, 262} The cells employed in skeletal muscle tissue engineering research mainly include muscle satellite cells, muscle cells, embryonic stem cells and bone marrow derived stem cell. The self-renewal of skeletal muscle tissue arises from satellite cells residing beneath the basal lamina. The proportion of these cells (up to 1-5 %) in the total skeletal muscle changes with age and muscle fiber types.²⁶³ These cells may maintain a quiescent and undifferentiated state. When cells are stimulated by specific factors, they will enter the mitotic circle.²⁶⁴ When injuries occurs, satellite cells migrate and proliferate in the injured area.^{264, 265} The primary skeletal muscle cells can be harvested from adult muscle.²⁶⁶ Skeletal muscle tissue engineering mainly depends on the regenerative properties of the satellite cells and their potential for proliferation and differentiation.^{267, 268} The satellite cells without proliferation ability can't promote regeneration and will form connective tissue. Therefore, it becomes an urgent goal to generate new muscle fibers via satellite cells when muscle structure is irreversibly compromised or individual muscles (or part of them) have been ablated by surgical procedures or injuries. The following schematic shows the concepts of muscle tissues engineering to treat related diseases in vitro and in vivo (Figure 19).²⁶⁹

Currently, there are many different growth factors associated with muscle tissue engineering growth reported in the literatures. They are muscle differentiation factor (MyoD), myogenic regulatory factor (Myf5), IGF, FGF, epidermal growth factor (EGF), PDGF, TGF, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF).²⁷⁰

Figure 19. The concept of tissue engineering approach *in vitro* and *in vivo* (reprinted with permission from reference 269). ²⁶⁹

4.2 Nanostructured materials used for muscle tissue engineering

4.2.1 Natural polymeric nanomaterials

Currently, the natural polymeric scaffolds using in muscle tissue engineering mainly include collagen, chitosan, and acellular matrix (ACM). Kroehne *et al.* utilized a novel collagen matrix with oriented pore structure to induce muscle cell differentiation *in vitro*.²⁷¹ They investigated the adherence of permanent myogenic cell line C2C12 on the surface of collagen sponge (CS) scaffolds in a highly-density cell suspension and observed the differentiation and formation of multinucleated myotubes. CS with either proliferating cells or myotubes was transplanted into the beds of excised anterior tibial muscles of

immunodeficient host mice. The results showed that biodegradable CS with parallel pores was able to orient muscle fibres compatible of force generation in regenerated muscle.

Recently, it gathered attention in the surface modification of scaffolds for muscle tissue engineering. ACM with negligible antigenicity and good biocompatibility can provide desirable characteristics required for cell growth. In addition, the residual neural pathways and microcirculation system of ACM can promote the vascularization and neurotization of tissue engineered muscle.^{272, 273} Therefore, ACM has become the excellent muscle tissue engineering scaffolds. Furthermore, matrix components have the advantages of clinical applicability and are more attractive regarding regulatory issues comparing to MatrigelTM.²⁷⁴ The drawback of ACM of scaffold is the extreme fragility and the associated difficulties of handling. They usually cause batch-to-batch variations during isolations, have low mechanical strength and involve high cost.²⁷⁵

4.2.2 Synthetic polymeric materials

Poly(1,8-octanediol-co-citrate) (POC) and PLCL are biodegradable polymers suitable for muscle tissue engineering.^{276, 277} Huang *et al.* fabricated the nanofiber scaffolds using PLLA by electrospinning.²⁷⁸ The results confirmed that the scaffolds regulated muscle cell adhesion, growth, and proliferation at multiple levels. Figure 20 showed myotube striation and myoblast proliferation on aligned nanofibers various days after cell seeding.

Levenberg *et al.* co-cultured endothelial cells (HUVEC or hES cell-derived endothelial cell) with skeletal myoblasts on the PLA and PLGA scaffolds and observed the vascularization in the skeletal muscle tissue matrix *in vitro*.²⁷⁹ Furthermore, they studied the survival and vascularization of the engineered muscle engrafts *in vivo*. The data indicated that prevascularization was able to improve the vascular neogenesis, blood perfusion and survival of the muscle tissue constructs after transplantation.

Figure 20. Statistical analysis of myotube striation and myoblast proliferation on aligned nanofibers. (A) Cell proliferation test by BrdU incorporation (R, random; A, aligned). (B) Fluorescence imaging of striated myotube on aligned nanofibers by anti-MHC staining (scale bar = 20 μ m). (C) The comparison of striated cells 7 days after seeded. *P<0.05. (reprinted with permission from reference 278). ²⁷⁸

4.2.3 Nanocomposite materials

Sole biomaterial is difficult to satisfy all the requirements of muscle tissue engineering. Therefore, the preparation of composite scaffolds with desired characteristics is the focus of future research in muscle tissue engineering.²⁸⁰⁻²⁸² Choi *et al.* have made fibrous scaffolds combined with PCL and collagen using electrostatic spinning technology.²⁸⁰ They found that myoblast can keep stable adhesion and generation after inoculating with the composite scaffold.

Based on similar properties to muscle tissues, Hajiabbas *et al.* designed chitosan-gelatin sheets as scaffolds for muscle tissue engineering.²⁸³ They evaluated the effect of polymer concentration and scaffold stiffness on the behavior of seeded cells on the sheets. Chitosan concentration could be used to regulate the elastic characteristics for surgical purposes, while intermediate stiffness possessed the best cell attachment, expansion, and proliferation. Bhat *et al.* mixed chitosan, agarose, and gelatin (CAG) into

cryogel scaffolds in optimized ration using the cryogelation technique.²⁸⁴ They studied the feasibility of the matrix for cardiac tissue engineering (Figure 21). To mimicking hollow organ such as bladder, Horst *et al.* developed a bilayered hybrid microfibrous PLGA-acellular matrix scaffold and evaluated the feasibility of hollow organ regeneration in rat bladder model.²⁸⁵ The data confirmed that the produced 3D scaffolds provided good support for growth, attachment and proliferation of primary bladder muscle cells. Importantly, the hybrid scaffold featured with normal bladder capacity and held potential for engineered bladder and other hollow organs.

Figure 21. The proliferation of C2C12 cells on the CAG scaffolds (200 μ m) stained with DAPI (A, B). Proliferation of HL1 cells on cryogel section (200 nm) stained by DAPI (C). Scale bar: 100 μ m. initial cell density for seeding: 1 ×10⁶ cells/mL (reprinted with permission from reference 284).²⁸⁴

4.3 Fabrication of nanoscale materials for muscle tissue engineering

4.3.1 Nanofibers

The parallel aligned fibers was a favorable design for muscle tissue engineered.²⁸⁶ For example, collagen-1 nanofibers have been fabricated for muscle tissue engineering. Electrospinning is a simple and effective technique to create nanofibers.^{165, 287} PCL nanofibrous meshes was made to support colonies of myocardiocytes which began spontaneously contracting after 3 days of culture.²⁸⁸ Various other electrospun fiber scaffolds have been designed, fabricated, and applied for muscle regeneration, and the results showed good adhesion and proliferation properties.²⁸⁹⁻²⁹⁴ Zhong *et al.* created an unorganized collection of fibers using the standard electrospinning technique.²⁹⁵ The resulting fibers were well aligned and induced cell organization and growth along the fiber's direction. Liquid-liqud phase separation was

used to produce nanofibrous PLA scaffolds for nerve generation.²⁹⁶ Self-assembled nanofibrous scaffolds use engineered materials which undergo self-assembly to form a matrix of nanofibers. To make the self-assembly happen, the engineered materials are usually modified with amphiphilic peptide sequences.²⁹⁷

4.3.2 Nanoparticles

There has been a great interest in application of nanoparticles as scaffolds for muscle tissue engineering.²⁹⁸ Freeman' group observed the characteristics of electrospun PLA and gold nanoparticle composite scaffold for muscle tissue engineering. They designed a scaffold with PLA and gold nanoparticles to regulate muscle cell elongation, orientation, fusion, and striation.²⁹⁹ In another study, C2C12 cells labeled with magnetite nanoparticles were adhered and oriented on the matrix of scaffold to form multilayered muscle cell sheets under magnetic force direction.³⁰⁰

4.3.3 Nanogels

The naturally derived hydrogels have some properties that make them well-suited for muscle tissue engineering. For example, the hydrogels are usually compacted materials with designed geometry for the alignment of muscle cells with high cell density.³⁰¹⁻³⁰⁵ The designed geometry and cell favorable conditions are critical for their application as muscle tissue engineering scaffolds. Photolithographic patterning of hydrogels enable a fast layer-by-layer assembly of cells into 3D structures with controllable geometry and size.³⁰⁶ Synthetic³⁰⁷ or natural hydrogels³⁰⁸ have been both investigated by this method. The major concern of this method is from photosensitive cross-linkers and ultraviolet radiation for the hydrogel formation, which may cause side effects on cell activities.³⁰⁹ Bian *et al.* designed mesoscopic hydrogel to control the 3D geometry of artificial muscle tissue.³¹⁰ They provided a protocol to precisely and reproducibly mimic the 3D muscle tissue architectures through soft lithography technique *in vitro*. A several square centimeter large and few hundred micron-thick biomimetic muscle tissues formed after 2 weeks of cell cultures on this 3D hydrogel (Figure 22).

Figure 22. Fabrication of bioartificial muscle tissue scaffolds. (a) The SU-8 photoresist-coated silicon wafer; (b) a predesigned photomask. Scale bar, 2 mm (inset, 500 μ m). (c) Optical profile of the resulting master wafer after UV light exposure. (d) Negative replica PDMS mold without the master wafer. Scale bar, 1 mm. (inset: vertical cross-section, scale bar, 500 μ m). (e) PDMS tissue mold without the negative replica PDMS. Scale bar, 1 mm (inset: vertical cross-section, scale bar, 500 μ m). (f) Cell–hydrogel solution into the PDMS tissue mold and incubation at 37 °C. (g) hydrogel polymerization and (h) submerged in culture medium. A pinned Velcro frame served as an anchor for hydrogel. Scale bars in **f**–**h**, 5 mm (reprinted with permission from reference 310). ³¹⁰

4.3.4 Nanocomposite scaffolds

Composite scaffolds have shown significant improve for muscle tissue engineering applications, especially for the considerations of mechanical properties. Song *et al.* have prepared chitosan/PGA nanocomposite scaffold using layer by layer self-assembly technique.²⁸² Results demonstrated that the composite scaffold could significantly promote the adhesion and growth of C2C12 cell *in vitro*. Jun *et al.* prepared three kinds of PLCL/polyaniline 3D nanocomposite scaffolds by electrostatic spinning technology.²⁸¹ They tested the mechanical properties and conductivity of the scaffold. The three scaffolds have showed to promote the adhesion and proliferation of C2C12 cells *in vitro*. Beier *et al.* compared different scaffolds in the application of muscle tissue engineering, such as hybrid collagen-I-fibrin gels,

collagen nanofibres, collagen sponges, and open-cell PLA (OPLA) scaffolds.³¹¹ The data confirmed that pure collagen sponges and OPLA-scaffolds were less benefit to cell proliferation while the former matrix promoted apoptosis of cells on the scaffolds. Therefore, the nanocomposite scaffold is a better candidate for muscle tissue engineering.

4.4 Clinical trials of nanomaterials in muscle tissue engineering

At present, more and more nanomaterials have been put into clinical trials for muscle tissue engineering. For example, transplantation using autologous skeletal myoblast for the treatment of heart failure³¹²⁻³¹⁴ and stress urinary incontinence^{315, 316} are on the way. Powell *et al.* developed a muscle-based delivery system by using transduced bioartificial muscles tissues.³¹⁷ This method has many advantages, such as high survival rate, good fusion efficiency, and the possible retrievability of transplanted muscle constructs through simple myoblast injections. However, muscle tissue engineering still has many limitations and challenges to solve. It requires myogenic progenitor cells and scaffolds which can support growth and differentiation of progenitor cells. Although tissue engineering undergoes steady progress in clinical practice, the engineering of muscle tissue is still a scientific challenge. Hopefully, the nanotechnology-mediated functional scaffolds could further throw light on skeletal muscle tissue engineering.^{311, 318-320}

4.5 Summary

Muscle is a soft tissue which can produce force and motion under the direction of the nerve. Therefore, muscle tissue engineering is involved in three aspects, including structure and function of muscle, vascularization for the survival condition for seeded cells, and nerve network to control the muscle motion. Replacement of artificial muscle scaffolds should not only fill the room, but recover the lost function. Recovery of muscle functionality needs the combination of systematic engineering and complicated techniques. It is more difficult to design the functional muscle scaffold than artificial bone or cartilage. That is the possible reason that there is no muscle scaffold available in the market until now. Nanotechnology makes it possible to construct devices interacting at nanoscale level. The application of nanotechnology and nanostructured materials in muscle tissue engineering is a new and fast developing field. Although the nanostructured materials have made quick progress in muscle tissue engineering, there are hurdles to overcome. Currently, research mainly focuses on cell adherence and proliferation after cell seeding in nanostructured muscle scaffolds. Some group studied the cell elongation, orientation, fusion, and striation in the scaffolds. In order to create ideal nanostructured muscle scaffolds to regenerate muscle layers with appropriate tissue organization, successful integration, and robust mechanical properties, future work should focus on the selection of appropriate expanding materials and fabrication techniques.

5. Conclusions and Outlook

The development of nanotechnology has brought a remarkable progress in the field of using nanostructured materials for musculoskeletal tissue engineering, which provide opportunity to design and tailor the materials at the molecular level; therefore, the scaffold fabricated by nanomaterials can be tuned to excellently mimic the naturally hierarchical tissue structures and ECM components in terms of morphology and biofunctionalities. Natural biopolymers, synthetic polymers, metals, and inorganic materials in the form of various nanocomposite scaffolds, nanogels, nanofibers, and nanoparticles containing different kinds of seeded cells or growth factors have been designed and synthesized for potential use in bone, skin and muscle tissue engineering. Table 1 summarizes the similarities and differences of various nanostructured materials for musculoskeletal tissue engineering in terms of growth factors, compositions, and mechanical properties.

	Growth factors			Mechanic		
	Same	ame Different Polymers			Other	properties
			Same	Different	compositions	
Nanostru ctured materials for bone	Transfor ming growth factorVascular endotheli growth factor (VE bone morphogenet protein (BMP)(TGF); fibroblast growth factorImage: Comparison of the tactor 	Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF); bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)	Natural: collagen; chitosan	Natural: starch; hyaluronic acid; fibrinogen; poly(hydroxybutyrate)	Metal: gold; silver	Stiffness (37- 2900 MPa)
			Synthetic: poly (lactic acid) (PLA); poly (lactic- coglycolide) (PLGA); poly(carprolacto ne)(PCL)	Synthetic: poly (glycolic acid) (PGA); polypropylene fumarate (PPF); polyalkylcyanoacrylate; poly (3- hydroxybutanoicacid)(PHB); poly(organophosphazene)(PO P); poly(ethylene glycol)(PEG); poly(ethylene oxide)(PEO); polyanhydrides	Organic: calcium phosphates; Carbon nanotubes	
Nanostru ctured materials for cartilage	TGF; FGF	BMP; insulin-like factor (IGF); platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF- AB)	Natural: collagen; chitosan	Natural: gelatin; fibrin; hyaluronic acid; alginate; agarose; and fibroin	None	Middle (0.133- 14 MPa)
			Synthetic: PLA; PLGA; PCL;	Synthetic: PGA; poly (acrylic ester); PEO; poly (L-lactide- co-ɛ-carprolactone) (PLCL); poly(N-isopropylacrylamine) (ONIPAM)		
Nanostru ctured materials for	TGF; FGF	F; Muscle differentiation factor (MyoD); myogenic factor 5 (Myt5): IGE: epidermal	Natural: chitosan; collagen	Natural: gelatin; and acellular matrix	None	Elastic (0.17- 2.10 MPa)*
muscle		growth factor (EGF); PDGF; hepatocyte growth factor (HGF); and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF)	PLGA; PCL	octanediol-co-citrate) (POC); PLCL; poly (L-lactide) (PLLA); PLGA		

Table 1.	Comparision	of Nanostructured	Materials for	Musculoskeletal	Tissue Engineering

*: Mechanics results are tested when stress at break.

Compared with conventional materials, the nanomaterials have improved mechanical properties, tunable chemical and bioactive-functions, organized structures, enhanced protein adsorption, cell adhesion, proliferation and differentiation of various cell types. However, most of the current studies are limited to laboratory investigations, either *in vitro* or *in vivo*, clinical studies are needed. As the candidate for tissue engineering, nanomaterials are also needed to be evaluated for *in vivo* studies to provide more solid evidence, and eventually move the lab investigation forward to clinical trials.³²¹ In order to achieve successful clinical translation of nanomaterials' application in musculoskeletal tissue engineering, the following challenges and tasks need to be considered and resolved, including the lack of strong bioactivity, insufficient mechanical strength, issues relating to the infection management, as well as non-biodegradability and long term toxicity. The influence of nanomaterials on human health and the environment is needed to be more understood.³²² For example, it is reported that surface functionalization

can reduce the toxicity of CNTs *in vivo*, but long-term safety of CNTs in the body has not yet been systemically studied yet. Similarly, for other nanomaterials, a systematic investigation of the potential health risks is critically needed before clinical trials.³²³

The most promising design of a nanostructured biomaterial for musculoskeletal tissue engineering is to create multi-component and multi-functional material that promotes tissue regeneration on multiple levels. It demands comprehensive fundamental understandings in both life and materials sciences to achieve such ideal regeneration technologies.³²⁴ New materials with biocompability, biodegradability, mechanical properties, microarchitecture, porosity, surface properties are favorable for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. Further understanding of tissue biology, such as the interaction between the organic and inorganic materials in different tissues, and the function of growth factors, is also very crucial for new design of nanostructured materials for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. Finally, the scaffold processing engineering techniques need to be optimized. There is no single method or kind of material so far that can produce the perfect ideal scaffold for tissue engineering. Each technique or material has advantages and drawbacks. Therefore, the successful development of nanostructured materials for musculoskeletal tissue engineering biology, discovery of new nanomaterials and new materials processing methods, as well as combining nanotechnology with other techniques.

Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the Education Department of Heilongjiang Province in China (12541348), Iowa State University (ISU) President's Initiative on Interdisciplinary Research (PIIR) program and Cyclone Research Partnership Grant (CRPG).

References:

- 1. R. J. Egli and R. Luginbuehl, *Swiss Medical Weekly*, 2012, 142.
- 2. T. L. Deans and J. H. Elisseeff, *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 2009, 20, 537-544.
- 3. V. J. Wright, H. Peng and J. Huard, *Drug Discovery Today*, 2001, 6, 728-733.
- 4. Q. Wang, Z. Gu, S. Jamal, M. S. Detamore and C. Berkland, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2013, 19, 2586-2593.
- 5. Y. Y. Hu, X. P. Liu, X. Ma, A. Rawal, T. Prozorov, M. Akinc, S. K. Mallapragada and K. Schmidt-Rohr, *Chemistry of Materials*, 2011, 23, 2481-2490.
- 6. J. Luyten, I. Thijs, M. Ravelingien and S. Mullens, *Advanced Engineering Materials*, 2011, 13, 1002-1007.
- 7. Q. Wang, L. Wang, M. S. Detamore and C. Berkland, *Advanced Materials*, 2008, 20, 236-239.
- 8. K. A. Zimmermann, J. M. LeBlanc, K. T. Sheets, R. W. Fox and P. Gatenholm, *Materials Science* and Engineering: C, 2011, 31, 43-49.
- 9. C. M. Agrawal and R. B. Ray, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 2001, 55, 141-150.
- 10. P. Gourley, *Biotechnology progress*, 2008, 21, 2-10.
- 11. R. W. Siegel and G. E. Fougere, *Nanostructured Materials*, 1995, 6, 205-216.
- 12. M. Sato and T. Webster, *Expert Review of Medical Devices*, 2004, 1, 105-114.
- 13. T. Webster, Am. Ceram. Soc. Bull., 2003, 82, 23-28.
- 14. M. Peter, N. Ganesh, N. Selvamurugan, S. Nair, T. Furuike, H. Tamura and R. Jayakumar, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2010, 80, 687-694.
- 15. D. Emerich and C. Thanos, *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, 2003, 3, 655-663.
- 16. Q. Wang, J. Wang, Q. Lu, M. S. Detamore and C. Berkland, *Biomaterials*, 2010, 31, 4980-4986.
- 17. G. A. A. Saracino, D. Cigognini, D. Silva, A. Caprini and F. Gelain, *Chemical Society Reviews*, 2013, 42, 225-262.
- 18. P. Newman, A. Minett, R. Ellis-Behnke and H. Zreiqat, *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 2013, 9, 1139-1158.
- 19. C. Zhao, A. Tan, G. Pastorin and H. K. Ho, *Biotechnology Advances*, 2013, 31, 654-668.
- 20. Q. Wang, S. Jamal, M. S. Detamore and C. Berkland, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2011, 96, 520-527.
- 21. N. M. Alves, I. B. Leonor, H. S. Azevedo, R. L. Reis and J. F. Mano, *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 2010, 20, 2911-2921.
- 22. S. Wadhwa, C. Rea, P. O'Hare, A. Mathur, S. Roy, P. Dunlop, J. Byrne, G. Burke, B. Meenan and J. McLaughlin, *Journal of hazardous materials*, 2011, 191, 56-61.
- 23. S. Weiner and H. D. Wagner, *Annual Review of Materials Science*, 1998, 28, 271-298.
- 24. T. J. Webster, *Advances in chemical engineering*, 2001, 27, 125-166.
- 25. B. Basu, D. S. Katti and A. Kumar, *Advanced biomaterials: fundamentals, processing, and applications*, Wiley-American Ceramic Society, 2010.
- 26. Y.-Y. Hu, A. Rawal and K. Schmidt-Rohr, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2010, 107, 22425-22429.
- 27. R. D. A. M. Alves, J. A. A. Demmers, K. Bezstarosti, B. C. J. van der Eerden, J. A. N. Verhaar, M. Eijken and J. P. T. M. van Leeuwen, *Journal of Proteome Research*, 2011, 10, 4725-4733.
- 28. T. A. Franz-Odendaal, B. K. Hall and P. E. Witten, *Developmental Dynamics*, 2006, 235, 176-190.
- 29. K. W. Ng, E. Romas, L. Donnan and D. M. Findlay, *Baillière's Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 1997, 11, 1-22.
- 30. J. M. Holzwarth and P. X. Ma, *Biomaterials*, 2011, 32, 9622-9629.
- 31. D. Fan, G. R. Akkaraju, E. F. Couch, L. T. Canham and J. L. Coffer, *Nanoscale*, 2011, 3, 354-361.

- 32. T. J. Webster and T. A. Smith, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2005, 74, 677-686.
- 33. S. Weiner and W. Traub, *The FASEB Journal*, 1992, 6, 879-885.
- 34. S. P. Nukavarapu and D. L. Dorcemus, *Biotechnology Advances*, 2013, 31, 706-721.
- 35. J. Street, M. Bao, L. deGuzman, S. Bunting, F. V. Peale, N. Ferrara, H. Steinmetz, J. Hoeffel, J. L. Cleland, A. Daugherty, N. van Bruggen, H. P. Redmond, R. A. D. Carano and E. H. Filvaroff, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2002, 99, 9656-9661.
- 36. H. Eckardt, M. Ding, M. Lind, E. S. Hansen, K. S. Christensen and I. Hvid, *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume*, 2005, 87-B, 1434-1438.
- 37. H. Zhou, P. C. Choong, S. T. Chou, V. Kartsogiannis, T. J. Martin and K. W. Ng, *Bone*, 1995, 17, S443-S448.
- 38. D. Chen, M. Zhao and G. R. Mundy, *Growth Factors*, 2004, 22, 233-241.
- 39. S. N. Khan and J. M. Lane, *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, 2004, 4, 741-748.
- 40. E. A. Wang, V. Rosen, J. S. D'Alessandro, M. Bauduy, P. Cordes, T. Harada, D. I. Israel, R. M. Hewick, K. M. Kerns and P. LaPan, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1990, 87, 2220-2224.
- 41. E. Kanda, M. Yoshida and S. Sasaki, *Bmc Nephrology*, 2012, 13.
- 42. L. T. Kuhn, G. Ou, L. Charles, M. M. Hurley, C. M. Rodner and G. Gronowicz, *Journals of Gerontology Series a-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 2013, 68, 1170-1180.
- 43. P. J. Marie, *Gene*, 2012, 498, 1-4.
- 44. T. C. Santos, T. J. Morton, M. Moritz, S. Pfeifer, K. Reise, A. P. Marques, A. G. Castro, R. L. Reis and M. van Griensven, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2013, 19, 834-848.
- T. Song, W. Wang, J. Xu, D. Zhao, Q. Dong, L. Li, X. Yang, X. Duan, Y. Liang, Y. Xiao, J. Wang, J. He, M. Tang, J. Wang and J. Luo, *International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 2013, 45, 1639-1646.
- 46. X. Wang, E. Wenk, X. Zhang, L. Meinel, G. Vunjak-Novakovic and D. L. Kaplan, *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2009, 134, 81-90.
- 47. B. Duan and M. Wang, *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2010, 7, S615-S629.
- 48. R. Jayakumar, R. Ramachandran, V. Divyarani, K. Chennazhi, H. Tamura and S. Nair, *International journal of biological macromolecules*, 2011, 48, 336-344.
- 49. C. Rey, C. Combes, C. Drouet and M. J. Glimcher, *Osteoporosis International*, 2009, 20, 2155-2155.
- 50. K. Remya, J. Joseph, S. Mani, A. John, H. Varma and P. Ramesh, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 1483-1494.
- 51. K. Shalumon, S. Sowmya, D. Sathish, K. Chennazhi, S. V. Nair and R. Jayakumar, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 430-440.
- 52. A. K. Jaiswal, R. V. Dhumal, S. Ghosh, P. Chaudhari, H. Nemani, V. P. Soni, G. R. Vanage and J. R. Bellare, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 2073-2085.
- 53. P. Datta, P. Ghosh, K. Ghosh, P. Maity, S. K. Samanta, S. K. Ghosh, P. K. D. Mohapatra, J. Chatterjee and S. Dhara, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 870-879.
- 54. A. Aravamudhan, D. M. Ramos, J. Nip, M. D. Harmon, R. James, M. Deng, C. T. Laurencin, X. Yu and S. G. Kumbar, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 719-731.
- 55. S. F. Badylak, D. O. Freytes and T. W. Gilbert, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2009, 5, 1-13.
- 56. J. B. Lee, H. N. Park, W.-K. Ko, M. S. Bae, D. N. Heo, D. H. Yang and I. K. Kwon, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 424-429.
- 57. F. Sun, H. G. Kang, S.-C. Ryu, J. E. Kim, E. Y. Park, D. Y. Hwang and J. Lee, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 1914-1920.

- 58. S.-C. Jin, S.-G. Kim, J.-S. Oh, S.-Y. Lee, E.-S. Jang, Z.-G. Piao, S.-C. Lim, M. Jeong, J.-S. Kim and J.-S. You, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 475-478.
- 59. K.-I. Jeong, S.-G. Kim, J.-S. Oh, S.-Y. Lee, Y.-S. Cho, S.-S. Yang, S.-C. Park, J.-S. You, S.-C. Lim and M. Jeong, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 535-537.
- 60. J. Venkatesan and S. K. Kim, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2012, 8, 676-685.
- 61. A. Salgado, O. Coutinho and R. Reis, *Macromolecular bioscience*, 2004, 4, 743-765.
- 62. S. Bose, M. Roy and A. Bandyopadhyay, *Trends in biotechnology*, 2012, 30, 546-554.
- 63. X. M. Li, L. Wang, Y. B. Fan, Q. L. Feng, F. Z. Cui and F. Watari, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2013, 101A, 2424-2435.
- 64. Z. Gu, A. A. Aimetti, Q. Wang, T. T. Dang, Y. Zhang, O. Veiseh, H. Cheng, R. S. Langer and D. G. Anderson, *ACS nano*, 2013.
- 65. R. E. McMahon, L. Wang, R. Skoracki and A. B. Mathur, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials*, 2013, 101B, 387-397.
- 66. Q. Wang, N. Zhang, X. Hu, J. Yang and Y. Du, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2007, 82, 122-128.
- 67. Q. Wang, N. Zhang, X. Hu, J. Yang and Y. Du, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2008, 85, 881-887.
- 68. S. J. Williams, Q. Wang, R. R. MacGregor, T. J. Siahaan, L. Stehno Bittel and C. Berkland, *Biopolymers*, 2009, 91, 676-685.
- 69. X. Hu, Y. Tang, Q. Wang, Y. Li, J. Yang, Y. Du and J. F. Kennedy, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2011, 83, 1128-1133.
- 70. A. George and S. Ravindran, *Nano Today*, 2010, 5, 254-266.
- 71. L. Susan, N. Michelle, K. C. Casey and S. Ramakrishna, *Biomedical Materials*, 2009, 4, 025019.
- 72. S. Liao, F. Cui, W. Zhang and Q. Feng, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials*, 2004, 69, 158-165.
- 73. L. Xu, A. Anderson, Q. Lu and J. Wang, *Biomaterials*, 2007, 28, 750-761.
- 74. C. H. Lee, A. Singla and Y. Lee, *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 2001, 221, 1-22.
- 75. L. Cen, W. Liu, L. Cui, W. J. Zhang and Y. L. Cao, *Pediatric Research*, 2008, 63, 492-496.
- 76. E. A. Abou Neel, L. Bozec, J. C. Knowles, O. Syed, V. Mudera, R. Day and J. K. Hyun, *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 2013, 65, 429-456.
- 77. J. Venkatesan and S.-K. Kim, *Marine Drugs*, 2010, 8, 2252-2266.
- 78. Y. Zhang, J. Venugopal, A. El-Turki, S. Ramakrishna, B. Su and C. Lim, *Biomaterials*, 2008, 29, 4314-4322.
- 79. Z. K. Wang, H. Zhao, L. Fan, J. Lin, P. Y. Zhuang, W. Z. Yuan, Q. L. Hu, J. Z. Sun and B. Z. Tang, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2011, 84, 1126-1132.
- 80. G. Toskas, C. Cherif, R.-D. Hund, E. Laourine, B. Mahltig, A. Fahmi, C. Heinemann and T. Hanke, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2013, 94, 713-722.
- 81. C. E. Tanase, A. Sartoris, M. I. Popa, L. Verestiuc, R. E. Unger and C. J. Kirkpatrick, *Biomedical Materials*, 2013, 8.
- 82. J. A. Sowjanya, J. Singh, T. Mohita, S. Sarvanan, A. Moorthi, N. Srinivasan and N. Selvamurugan, *Colloids and Surfaces B-Biointerfaces*, 2013, 109, 294-300.
- 83. L. Kong, Y. Gao, G. Lu, Y. Gong, N. Zhao and X. Zhang, *European Polymer Journal*, 2006, 42, 3171-3179.
- 84. H.-H. Jin, D.-H. Kim, T.-W. Kim, K.-K. Shin, J. S. Jung, H.-C. Park and S.-Y. Yoon, *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 2012, 51, 1079-1085.
- 85. X. Cai, H. Tong, X. Shen, W. Chen, J. Yan and J. Hu, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2009, 5, 2693-2703.
- 86. J. Li, D. Zhu, J. Yin, Y. Liu, F. Yao and K. Yao, *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 2010, 30, 795-803.

- 87. Y. Liu, J. Lim and S.-H. Teoh, *Biotechnology Advances*, 2013, 31, 688-705.
- 88. N. Goonoo, A. Bhaw-Luximon, G. L. Bowlin and D. Jhurry, *Polymer International*, 2013, 62, 523-533.
- 89. M. Li, H. Yu, T. Wang, N. Chang, J. Zhang, D. Du, M. Liu, S. Sun, R. Wang, H. Tao, Z. Shen, Q. Wang and H. Peng, *Journal of Materials Chemistry B*, 2014, 2, 1619-1625.
- 90. M. Liu, M. Li, S. Sun, B. Li, D. Du, J. Sun, F. Cao, H. Li, F. Jia, T. Wang, N. Chang, H. Yu, Q. Wang and H. Peng, *Biomaterials*, 2014, 35, 3697-3707.
- 91. S. Feng, L. Wang, P. Palo, X. Liu, S. K. Mallapragada and M. Nilsen-Hamilton, *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 2013, 14, 14594-14606.
- 92. F. Jia, X. Liu, L. Li, S. Mallapragada, B. Narasimhan and Q. Wang, *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2013, 172, 1020-1034.
- 93. F. Jia, S. Mallapragada and B. Narasimhan, *Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society*, 2013, 245.
- 94. F. Jia, B. Narasimhan and S. K. Mallapragada, Aiche Journal, 2013, 59, 355-360.
- 95. F. Jia, Y. Zhang, B. Narasimhan and S. K. Mallapragada, *Langmuir*, 2012, 28, 17389-17395.
- 96. X. Liu, Q. Ge, A. Rawal, G. Parada, K. Schmidt-Rohr, M. Akinc and S. K. Mallapragada, *Science of Advanced Materials*, 2013, 5, 354-365.
- 97. X. Ma, L. Klosterman, Y.-Y. Hu, X. Liu, K. Schmidt-Rohr, S. Mallapragada and M. Akinc, *Journal of the American Ceramic Society*, 2012, 95, 3455-3462.
- 98. K. E. Schlichting, T. M. Copeland-Johnson, M. Goodman, R. J. Lipert, T. Prozorov, X. Liu, T. O. McKinley, Z. Lin, J. A. Martin and S. K. Mallapragada, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2011, 7, 3094-3100.
- 99. L. Wang, T. Prozorov, P. E. Palo, X. Liu, D. Vaknin, R. Prozorov, S. Mallapragada and M. Nilsen-Hamilton, *Biomacromolecules*, 2012, 13, 98-105.
- 100. B. Zhang, F. Jia, M. Q. Fleming and S. K. Mallapragada, *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 2012, 427, 88-96.
- 101. M. Sabir, X. Xu and L. Li, Journal of Materials Science, 2009, 44, 5713-5724.
- 102. A. Salgueiro, F. Gamisans, M. Espina, X. Alcober, M. Garcia and M. Egea, *Journal of microencapsulation*, 2002, 19, 305-310.
- 103. V. Piddubnyak, P. Kurcok, A. Matuszowicz, M. Gowala, A. Fiszer-Kierzkowska, Z. Jedliski, M. Juzwa and Z. Krawczyk, *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 5271-5279.
- 104. J. Kim, Y. Jun, J. Seong, M. Jun and Y. Sohn, *Polymer*, 2004, 45, 7083-7089.
- 105. C. T. Lim, X. Ren, M. H. Afizah, S. Tarigan-Panjaitan, Z. Yang, Y. Wu, K. S. Chian, A. G. Mikos and J. H. P. Hui, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2013.
- 106. L. Zhang, Y. Hu, X. Jiang, C. Yang, W. Lu and Y. Yang, *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2004, 96, 135-148.
- 107. J. Rodrigues, N. Santos-Magalhaes, L. Coelho, P. Couvreur, G. Ponchel and R. Gref, *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2003, 92, 103-112.
- 108. G. Van Domeselaar, G. Kwon, L. Andrew and D. Wishart, *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 2003, 30, 323-334.
- 109. A. Panoyan, R. Quesnel and P. Hildgen, *Journal of microencapsulation*, 2003, 20, 745-758.
- 110. H. Otsuka, Y. Nagasaki and K. Kataoka, *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 2003, 55, 403-419.
- 111. A. R. Boccaccini, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2011, 17, 536-537.
- 112. L. M. Rodriguez-Lorenzo, L. Saldana, L. Benito-Garzon, R. Garcia-Carrodeguas, S. de Aza, N. Vilaboa and J. San Roman, *Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine*, 2012, 6, 421-433.
- 113. V. Sansone, D. Pagani and M. Melato, *Clinical cases in mineral and bone metabolism : the official journal of the Italian Society of Osteoporosis, Mineral Metabolism, and Skeletal Diseases*, 2013, 10, 34-40.

- 114. M. Navarro, A. Michiardi, O. Castaño and J. A. Planell, *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2008, 5, 1137-1158.
- 115. A. Fukuda, M. Takemoto, T. Saito, S. Fujibayashi, M. Neo, S. Yamaguchi, T. Kizuki, T. Matsushita, M. Niinomi, T. Kokubo and T. Nakamura, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2011, 7, 1379-1386.
- 116. G. M. S. Zayed and J. K. V. Tessmar, *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 2012, 12, 1124-1136.
- 117. V. Aina, G. Cerrato, G. Martra, L. Bergandi, C. Costamagna, D. Ghigo, G. Malavasi, G. Lusvardi and L. Menabue, *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2013, 10.
- 118. Z. Zhang, R. D. Ross and R. K. Roeder, *Nanoscale*, 2010, 2, 582-586.
- 119. R. Ross, L. Cole and R. Roeder, Journal of Nanoparticle Research, 2012, 14, 1-11.
- 120. A. R. Biris, M. Mahmood, M. D. Lazar, E. Dervishi, F. Watanabe, T. Mustafa, G. Baciut, M. Baciut, S. Bran, S. Ali and A. S. Biris, *The Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 2011, 115, 18967-18976.
- 121. E. Marsich, F. Bellomo, G. Turco, A. Travan, I. Donati and S. Paoletti, *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 2013, 24, 1799-1807.
- 122. C. Balagna, C. Vitale-Brovarone, M. Miola, E. Verne, R. A. Canuto, S. Saracino, G. Muzio, G. Fucale and G. Maina, *Journal of Biomaterials Applications*, 2011, 25, 595-617.
- 123. I. G. Becerril-Juarez, R. A. Morales-Luckie, F. Urena-Nunez, J. A. Arenas-Alatorre, J. P. Hinestroza and V. Sanchez-Mendieta, *Materials Letters*, 2012, 85, 157-160.
- 124. P. Prokopovich, R. Leech, C. J. Carmalt, I. P. Parkin and S. Perni, *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 2013, 8, 2227-2237.
- 125. V. Stanic, D. Janackovic, S. Dimitrijevic, S. B. Tanaskovic, M. Mitric, M. S. Pavlovic, A. Krstic, D. Jovanovic and S. Raicevic, *Applied Surface Science*, 2011, 257, 4510-4518.
- 126. D. J. Wickens, G. West, P. J. Kelly, J. Verran, S. Lynch and K. A. Whitehead, *International Journal of Artificial Organs*, 2012, 35, 817-825.
- 127. M. Miranda, A. Fernández, S. Lopez-Esteban, F. Malpartida, J. Moya and R. Torrecillas, *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 2012, 23, 1655-1662.
- 128. C. Vidaud, D. Bourgeois and D. Meyer, *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2012, 25, 1161-1175.
- 129. Y. Liu, G. Wu and K. de Groot, *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2010, 7, S631-S647.
- 130. G. M. Kuang, W. P. Yau, W. W. Lu and K. Y. Chiu, *Bone & Joint Journal*, 2013, 95B, 923-928.
- 131. D. T. Nguyen, J. D. McCanless, M. M. Mecwan, A. P. Noblett, W. O. Haggard, R. A. Smith and J. D. Bumgardner, *Journal of Biomaterials Science-Polymer Edition*, 2013, 24, 1071-1083.
- 132. L.-P. Yan, J. Silva-Correia, C. Correia, S. G. Caridade, E. M. Fernandes, R. A. Sousa, J. F. Mano, J. M. Oliveira, A. L. Oliveira and R. L. Reis, *Nanomedicine*, 2013, 8, 359-378.
- 133. N. Nezafati, F. Moztarzadeh, S. Hesaraki, Z. Moztarzadeh and M. Mozafari, *Ceramics International*, 2013, 39, 289-297.
- 134. S. Reddy, S. Wasnik, A. Guha, J. M. Kumar, A. Sinha and S. Singh, *Journal of Biomaterials Applications*, 2013, 27, 565-575.
- 135. J. Buschmann, L. Haerter, S. Gao, S. Hemmi, M. Welti, N. Hild, O. D. Schneider, W. J. Stark, N. Lindenblatt, C. M. L. Werner, G. A. Wanner and M. Calcagni, *Injury-International Journal of the Care of the Injured*, 2012, 43, 1689-1697.
- 136. M. Tang, W. Chen, M. D. Weir, W. Thein-Han and H. H. K. Xu, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2012, 8, 3436-3445.
- 137. H. Sahana, D. K. Khajuria, R. Razdan, D. R. Mahapatra, M. Bhat, S. Suresh, R. R. Rao and L. Mariappan, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 193-201.
- 138. K. Kavya, R. Dixit, R. Jayakumar, S. V. Nair and K. P. Chennazhi, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2012, 8, 149-160.
- 139. M. Vallet-Regí and E. Ruiz-Hernández, Advanced Materials, 2011, 23, 5177-5218.
- 140. J. Zhang, H. Zhou, K. Yang, Y. Yuan and C. Liu, *Biomaterials*, 2013, 34, 9381-9392.
- 141. S. Samavedi, A. R. Whittington and A. S. Goldstein, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2013, 9, 8037-8045.

- 142. H. Xu, D. Smith and C. Simon, *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 4615-4626.
- 143. A. Hertz, V. FitzGerald, E. Pignotti, J. C. Knowles, T. Sen and I. J. Bruce, *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*, 2012, 156, 51-61.
- 144. T.-S. Jang, E.-J. Lee, J.-H. Jo, J.-M. Jeon, M.-Y. Kim, H.-E. Kim and Y.-H. Koh, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B-Applied Biomaterials*, 2012, 100B, 321-330.
- 145. G. Poologasundarampillai, B. Yu, O. Tsigkou, E. Valliant, S. Yue, P. D. Lee, R. W. Hamilton, M. M. Stevens, T. Kasuga and J. R. Jones, *Soft Matter*, 2012, 8, 4822-4832.
- 146. R. Ravichandran, S. Gandhi, D. Sundaramurthi, S. Sethuraman and U. M. Krishnan, *Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition*, 2013, 24, 1988-2005.
- 147. J. Chen, X. Y. Chen, X. Y. Yang, C. M. Han, C. Y. Gao and Z. R. Gou, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2013, 92, 612-620.
- 148. A. Gupta, M. D. Woods, K. D. Illingworth, R. Niemeier, I. Schafer, C. Cady, P. Filip and S. F. El-Amin, III, *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 2013, 31, 1374-1381.
- 149. L. Chen, J. Hu, X. Shen and H. Tong, *Journal of Materials Science-Materials in Medicine*, 2013, 24, 1843-1851.
- 150. G. Vozzi, C. Corallo and C. Daraio, *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 2013, 129, 528-536.
- 151. Q. Cheng, K. Rutledge and E. Jabbarzadeh, Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 2013, 41, 904-916.
- 152. C. Z. Liao, K. Li, H. M. Wong, W. Y. Tong, K. W. K. Yeung and S. C. Tjong, *Materials Science & Engineering C-Materials for Biological Applications*, 2013, 33, 1380-1388.
- 153. N. Aboudzadeh, M. Imani, M. A. Shokrgozar, A. Khavandi, J. Javadpour, Y. Shafieyan and M. Farokhi, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2010, 94A, 137-145.
- 154. A. Asefnejad, A. Behnamghader, M. T. Khorasani and B. Farsadzadeh, *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 2011, 6, 93-100.
- 155. T. Chae, H. Yang, V. Leung, F. Ko and T. Troczynski, *Journal of Materials Science-Materials in Medicine*, 2013, 24, 1885-1894.
- 156. C. Delabarde, C. G. Plummer, P.-E. Bourban and J.-A. Månson, *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 2012, 23, 1371-1385.
- 157. K. Pielichowska and S. Blazewicz, in *Biopolymers: Lignin, Proteins, Bioactive Nanocomposites*, eds. A. Abe, K. Dusek and S. Kobayashi, 2010, vol. 232, pp. 97-207.
- 158. X. Liu, L. Ma, J. Liang, B. Zhang, J. Y. Teng and C. Y. Gao, *Biomaterials*, 2013, 34, 2038-2048.
- 159. J. Venkatesan, R. Pallela, I. Bhatnagar and S.-K. Kim, *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 2012, 51, 1033-1042.
- 160. K. Sahithi, M. Swetha, K. Ramasamy, N. Srinivasan and N. Selvamurugan, *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 2010, 46, 281-283.
- 161. S. Gay, S. Arostegui and J. Lemaitre, *Materials Science and Engineering: C*, 2009, 29, 172-177.
- 162. P. Gentile, M. Mattioli-Belmonte, V. Chiono, C. Ferretti, F. Baino, C. Tonda-Turo, C. Vitale-Brovarone, I. Pashkuleva, R. L. Reis and G. Ciardelli, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2012, 100A, 2654-2667.
- 163. K. Shalumon, K. Chennazhi, S. V. Nair and R. Jayakumar, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 1299-1305.
- 164. P. Sreerekha, D. Menon, S. Nair and K. Chennazhi, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 790-800.
- 165. L. Smith and P. Ma, *Colloids and surfaces B: biointerfaces*, 2004, 39, 125-131.
- 166. K. Woo, V. Chen and P. Ma, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2003, 67, 531-537.
- 167. K. Tuzlakoglu, N. Bolgen, A. Salgado, M. Gomes, E. Piskin and R. Reis, *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 2005, 16, 1099-1104.
- 168. N. Ganesh, R. Jayakumar, M. Koyakutty, U. Mony and S. V. Nair, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2012, 18, 1867-1881.

- 169. C. Zhou, Q. Shi, W. Guo, L. Terrell, A. T. Qureshi, D. J. Hayes and Q. Wu, ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 2013, 5, 3847-3854.
- 170. K. Kim, D. Dean, A. Lu, A. G. Mikos and J. P. Fisher, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2011, 7, 1249-1264.
- 171. S. P. Pathi, D. D. W. Lin, J. R. Dorvee, L. A. Estroff and C. Fischbach, *Biomaterials*, 2011, 32, 5112-5122.
- 172. K. Kim and J. P. Fisher, *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 2007, 15, 241-252.
- 173. Y. Cai, Y. Liu, W. Yan, Q. Hu, J. Tao, M. Zhang, Z. Shi and R. Tang, *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, 2007, 17, 3780-3787.
- 174. L. C. Gerhardt, G. M. R. Jell and A. R. Boccaccini, *Journal of Materials Science-Materials in Medicine*, 2007, 18, 1287-1298.
- 175. K. Goto, J. Tamura, S. Shinzato, S. Fujibayashi, M. Hashimoto, M. Kawashita, T. Kokubo and T. Nakamura, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 6496-6505.
- 176. T. Webster and T. Smith, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2005, 74, 677-686.
- 177. G. R. Beck Jr, S.-W. Ha, C. E. Camalier, M. Yamaguchi, Y. Li, J.-K. Lee and M. N. Weitzmann, *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine*, 2012, 8, 793-803.
- 178. K. Shimizu, A. Ito, T. Yoshida, Y. Yamada, M. Ueda and H. Honda, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B-Applied Biomaterials*, 2007, 82B, 471-480.
- 179. M. Dadsetan, M. Giuliani, F. Wanivenhaus, M. Brett Runge, J. E. Charlesworth and M. J. Yaszemski, *Acta Biomaterialia*, 2012, 8, 1430-1439.
- 180. E. Martínez-Sanz, D. A. Ossipov, J. Hilborn, S. Larsson, K. B. Jonsson and O. P. Varghese, *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2011, 152, 232-240.
- 181. B. Li, Y. Wang, D. Jia and Y. Zhou, *Journal of Biomaterials Science-Polymer Edition*, 2011, 22, 505-517.
- 182. C. Hayashi, U. Hasegawa, Y. Saita, H. Hemmi, T. Hayata, K. Nakashima, Y. Ezura, T. Amagasa, K. Akiyoshi and M. Noda, *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 2009, 220, 1-7.
- 183. S. Laïb, B. H. Fellah, A. Fatimi, S. Quillard, C. Vinatier, O. Gauthier, P. Janvier, M. Petit, B. Bujoli, S. Bohic and P. Weiss, *Biomaterials*, 2009, 30, 1568-1577.
- 184. M. Fujioka-Kobayashi, M. S. Ota, A. Shimoda, K.-i. Nakahama, K. Akiyoshi, Y. Miyamoto and S. Iseki, *Biomaterials*, 2012, 33, 7613-7620.
- 185. A. I. Raafat, A. A. Saad Eldin, A. A. Salama and N. S. Ali, *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 2013, 128, 1697-1705.
- 186. M. Azami, M. J. Moosavifar, N. Baheiraei, F. Moztarzadeh and J. Ai, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2012, 100A, 1347-1355.
- 187. M. Diba, M. Kharaziha, M. H. Fathi, M. Gholipourmalekabadi and A. Samadikuchaksaraei, *Composites Science and Technology*, 2012, 72, 716-723.
- 188. G. Lalwani, A. M. Henslee, B. Farshid, L. Lin, F. K. Kasper, Y.-X. Qin, A. G. Mikos and B. Sitharaman, *Biomacromolecules*, 2013, 14, 900-909.
- 189. O. Craciunescu, L. Moldovan, C. Tardei and G. Sbarcea, *Materiale Plastice*, 2010, 47, 59-63.
- 190. X. Li, L. Wang, Y. Fan, Q. Feng, F.-Z. Cui and F. Watari, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2013, 101A, 2424-2435.
- 191. E. Kon, M. Delcogliano, G. Filardo, D. Pressato, M. Busacca, B. Grigolo, G. Desando and M. Marcacci, *Injury*, 2010, 41, 693-701.
- 192. T. Yuan, L. Zhang, K. Li, H. Fan, Y. Fan, J. Liang and X. Zhang, *Journal of biomedical materials research. Part B, Applied biomaterials*, 2013, DOI: 10.1002/jbm.b.33011.
- 193. D. L. Nettles, S. H. Elder and J. A. Gilbert, *Tissue Eng*, 2002, 8, 1009-1016.
- 194. Y.-q. Jiang, M. Yao, D.-m. Dong, Y.-s. Wang, G.-j. Wei, C.-w. Zhou and H.-y. Tian, *Micro & Nano Letters, IET*, 2011, 6, 125-128.

- 195. D. A. Rennerfeldt, A. N. Renth, Z. Talata, S. H. Gehrke and M. S. Detamore, *Biomaterials*, 2013, 34, 8241-8257.
- 196. S. Zhang, D. Marini, W. Hwang and S. Santoso, *Current opinion in chemical biology*, 2002, 6, 865-871.
- 197. Z. Ma, C. Gao, Y. Gong and J. Shen, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 1253-1259.
- 198. Y. Cao, J. P. Vacanti, K. T. Paige, J. Upton and C. A. Vacanti, *Plastic and reconstructive surgery*, 1997, 100, 297-302.
- 199. L. Freed, J. Marquis, R. Langer, G. Vunjak Novakovic and J. Emmanual, *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 1994, 43, 605-614.
- 200. L. Lu, G. N. Stamatas and A. G. Mikos, *Journal of biomedical materials research*, 2000, 50, 440-451.
- 201. H. S. Yoo, E. A. Lee, J. J. Yoon and T. G. Park, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 1925-1933.
- 202. H. Wu, Y. Wan, X. Cao and Q. Wu, Acta Biomaterialia, 2008, 4, 76-87.
- 203. A. Sarasam and S. V. Madihally, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 5500-5508.
- 204. B. Büyüktimkin, Q. Wang, P. Kiptoo, J. M. Stewart, C. Berkland and T. J. Siahaan, *Molecular pharmaceutics*, 2012, 9, 979-985.
- 205. S. Yamane, N. Iwasaki, T. Majima, T. Funakoshi, T. Masuko, K. Harada, A. Minami, K. Monde and S.-i. Nishimura, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 611-619.
- 206. S. h. Hsu, S. H. Chang, H. J. Yen, S. W. Whu, C. L. Tsai and D. C. Chen, *Artificial organs*, 2006, 30, 42-55.
- 207. J. Jančář, A. Slovíková, E. Amler, P. Krupa, H. Kecová, L. Plánka, P. Gál and A. Nečas, *Physiol Res*, 2007, 56, S17-S25.
- 208. Y. C. Kuo and I. N. Ku, *Biomacromolecules*, 2008, 9, 2662-2669.
- 209. N. Iwasaki, S.-T. Yamane, T. Majima, Y. Kasahara, A. Minami, K. Harada, S. Nonaka, N. Maekawa, H. Tamura and S. Tokura, *Biomacromolecules*, 2004, 5, 828-833.
- 210. Y. Gu, P. Chen, Y. Yang, K. Shi, Y. Wang, W. Zhu and G. Zhu, *Molecular medicine reports*, 2013, 7, 1003-1009.
- 211. M. R. Jung, I. K. Shim, H. J. Chung, H. R. Lee, Y. J. Park, M. C. Lee, Y. I. Yang, S. H. Do and S. J. Lee, Journal of Controlled Release, 2012, 162, 485-491.
- 212. S. Ab-Rahim, L. Selvaratnam, H. R. B. Raghavendran and T. Kamarul, *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*, 2013, 376, 11-20.
- 213. T. H. B. Eriksen, E. Skovsen and P. Fojan, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 492-498.
- 214. L. Jin, T. Wang, M.-L. Zhu, M. K. Leach, Y. I. Naim, J. M. Corey, Z.-Q. Feng and Q. Jiang, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2012, 8, 1-9.
- M. S. Peach, S. G. Kumbar, R. James, U. S. Toti, D. Balasubramaniam, M. Deng, B. Ulery, A. D. Mazzocca, M. B. McCarthy and N. L. Morozowich, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2012, 8, 107-124.
- 216. W. Li, X. Li, Q. Wang, Y. Pan, T. Wang, H. Wang, R. Song and H. Deng, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2014, 99, 218-225.
- 217. D. H. Reneker and I. Chun, *Nanotechnology*, 1996, 7, 216.
- 218. K. Shalumon, D. Sathish, S. Nair, K. Chennazhi, H. Tamura and R. Jayakumar, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2012, 8, 405-416.
- 219. L. Jin, Z.-Q. Feng, M.-L. Zhu, T. Wang, M. K. Leach and Q. Jiang, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2012, 8, 779-785.
- 220. Z.-M. Huang, Y. Zhang, S. Ramakrishna and C. Lim, *Polymer*, 2004, 45, 5361-5368.
- 221. L. Buttafoco, N. Kolkman, P. Engbers-Buijtenhuijs, A. Poot, P. Dijkstra, I. Vermes and J. Feijen, *Biomaterials*, 2006, 27, 724-734.

- 222. S. I. Jeong, M. D. Krebs, C. A. Bonino, J. E. Samorezov, S. A. Khan and E. Alsberg, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2010, 17, 59-70.
- 223. J. A. Matthews, G. E. Wnek, D. G. Simpson and G. L. Bowlin, *Biomacromolecules*, 2002, 3, 232-238.
- 224. M. E. Casper, J. S. Fitzsimmons, J. J. Stone, A. O. Meza, Y. Huang, T. J. Ruesink, S. W. O'Driscoll and G. G. Reinholz, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*, 2010, 18, 981-991.
- 225. M. Kim, B. Hong, J. Lee, S. E. Kim, S. S. Kang, Y. H. Kim and G. Tae, *Biomacromolecules*, 2012, 13, 2287-2298.
- 226. S. E. Kim, J. H. Park, Y. W. Cho, H. Chung, S. Y. Jeong, E. B. Lee and I. C. Kwon, *J Control Release*, 2003, 91, 365-374.
- 227. N. Isogai, T. Morotomi, S. Hayakawa, H. Munakata, Y. Tabata, Y. Ikada and H. Kamiishi, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2005, 74, 408-418.
- 228. A. J. DeFail, C. R. Chu, N. Izzo and K. G. Marra, *Biomaterials*, 2006, 27, 1579-1585.
- 229. G. E. Park, M. A. Pattison, K. Park and T. J. Webster, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 3075-3082.
- 230. M. Li, H. Deng, H. Peng and Q. Wang, *Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 2014, 14, 415-432.
- 231. F. Weber, G. Eyrich, K. Grätz, F. Maly and H. Sailer, *International journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery*, 2002, 31, 60-65.
- 232. D.-G. Yu, W.-C. Lin and M.-C. Yang, *Bioconjugate chemistry*, 2007, 18, 1521-1529.
- 233. A. B. Ertan, P. Yılgor, B. Bayyurt, A. C. Çalıkoğlu, Ç. Kaspar, F. N. Kök, G. T. Kose and V. Hasirci, *Journal of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine*, 2011.
- 234. X. Li, G. Su, J. Wang, Z. Zhou, L. Li, L. Liu, M. Guan, Q. Zhang and H. Wang, *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 2013.
- 235. S. J. Bryant and K. S. Anseth, *Biomaterials*, 2001, 22, 619-626.
- 236. S. J. Bryant and K. S. Anseth, *Journal of biomedical materials research*, 2002, 59, 63-72.
- 237. S. J. Bryant and K. S. Anseth, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2003, 64, 70-79.
- 238. S. J. Bryant, K. L. Durand and K. S. Anseth, *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A*, 2003, 67, 1430-1436.
- 239. M. A. Rice and K. S. Anseth, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A, 2004, 70, 560-568.
- 240. J. T. Connelly, A. J. García and M. E. Levenston, *Biomaterials*, 2007, 28, 1071-1083.
- 241. J. Schagemann, E. Mrosek, R. Landers, H. Kurz and C. Erggelet, *Cells Tissues Organs*, 2006, 182, 89-97.
- 242. J. S. Wayne, C. L. McDowell, K. J. Shields and R. S. Tuan, *Tissue Eng*, 2005, 11, 953-963.
- 243. J. Elisseeff, W. McIntosh, K. Fu, B. T. Blunk and R. Langer, *J Orthop Res*, 2001, 19, 1098-1104.
- 244. T. A. Holland, Y. Tabata and A. G. Mikos, *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2005, 101, 111-125.
- 245. W. J. Marijnissen, G. J. van Osch, J. Aigner, S. W. van der Veen, A. P. Hollander, H. L. Verwoerd-Verhoef and J. A. Verhaar, *Biomaterials*, 2002, 23, 1511-1517.
- 246. H. Tan, Y. Gong, L. Lao, Z. Mao and C. Gao, *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 2007, 18, 1961-1968.
- 247. J. Sohier, D. Hamann, M. Koenders, M. Cucchiarini, H. Madry, C. Van Blitterswijk, K. De Groot and J. Bezemer, *Int J Pharm*, 2007, 332, 80-89.
- 248. N. Buchtová, G. Réthoré, C. Boyer, J. Guicheux, F. Rambaud, K. Vallé, P. Belleville, C. Sanchez, O. Chauvet and P. Weiss, *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 2013, 1-10.
- 249. E. Farrell, F. J. O'Brien, P. Doyle, J. Fischer, I. Yannas, B. A. Harley, B. O'Connell, P. J. Prendergast and V. A. Campbell, *Tissue Eng*, 2006, 12, 459-468.
- 250. N.-C. Cheng, B. T. Estes, H. A. Awad and F. Guilak, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2008, 15, 231-241.
- 251. K. Brodkin, A. Garcia and M. Levenston, *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 5929-5938.
- 252. E. M. Darling and K. A. Athanasiou, *Tissue Eng*, 2005, 11, 395-403.

- 253. A. Barbero, S. P. Grogan, P. Mainil Varlet and I. Martin, *Journal of cellular biochemistry*, 2006, 98, 1140-1149.
- 254. M. Brittberg, T. Tallheden, E. Sjögren-Jansson, A. Lindahl and L. Peterson, *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*, 2001, 391, S337-S348.
- 255. P. Cherubino, F. Grassi, P. Bulgheroni and M. Ronga, *JOURNAL OF ORTHOPAEDIC SURGERY-*HONG KONG-, 2003, 11, 10-15.
- 256. R. Gudas, A. Gudaitė, A. Pocius, A. Gudienė, E. Čekanauskas, E. Monastyreckienė and A. Basevičius, *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 2012, 40, 2499-2508.
- 257. D. Schaefer, I. Martin, P. Shastri, R. Padera, R. Langer, L. Freed and G. Vunjak-Novakovic, *Biomaterials*, 2000, 21, 2599-2606.
- 258. A. K. Saxena, J. Marler, M. Benvenuto, G. H. Willital and J. P. Vacanti, *Tissue Eng*, 1999, 5, 525-531.
- 259. S. A. Riboldi, M. Sampaolesi, P. Neuenschwander, G. Cossu and S. Mantero, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 4606-4615.
- 260. E. M. Cronin, F. A. Thurmond, R. Bassel-Duby, R. S. Williams, W. E. Wright, K. D. Nelson and H. R. Garner, *J Biomed Mater Res A*, 2004, 69, 373-381.
- 261. S. MacLean, W. Khan, A. Malik, S. Anand and M. Snow, *Stem cells international*, 2011, 2012.
- 262. T. Hurme, H. Kalimo, M. Lehto and M. Järvinen, *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 1991, 23, 801.
- 263. A. Sinanan, P. G. Buxton and M. P. Lewis, *Biology of the Cell*, 2006, 98, 203-214.
- 264. M. Hill, A. Wernig and G. Goldspink, Journal of Anatomy, 2003, 203, 89-99.
- 265. Y. Li and J. Huard, *The American journal of pathology*, 2002, 161, 895-907.
- 266. H. Yin, X.-H. Wang, X.-D. Zhu, H. Han, W.-Y. Guo and Z.-R. Fu, *Journal of biomedical nanotechnology*, 2013, 9, 1345-1353.
- 267. R. E. Allen, C. J. Temm-Grove, S. M. Sheehan and G. Rice, *Methods in cell biology*, 1997, 52, 155-176.
- 268. H. M. Blau and C. Webster, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 1981, 78, 5623-5627.
- 269. A. Bach, J. Beier, J. Stern Staeter and R. Horch, *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine*, 2004, 8, 413-422.
- 270. E. E. Spangenburg and F. W. Booth, *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 2002, 283, C204-C211.
- 271. V. Kroehne, I. Heschel, F. Schügner, D. Lasrich, J. Bartsch and H. Jockusch, *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine*, 2008, 12, 1640-1648.
- 272. G. H. Borschel, R. G. Dennis and W. M. Kuzon Jr, *Plastic and reconstructive surgery*, 2004, 113, 595-602.
- 273. T. W. Gilbert, T. L. Sellaro and S. F. Badylak, *Biomaterials*, 2006, 27, 3675-3683.
- 274. W. A. Morrison, *Cell transplantation*, 2008, 16, 1071.
- 275. A. P. Pêgo, A. A. Poot, D. W. Grijpma and J. Feijen, Journal of Controlled Release, 2003, 87, 69-79.
- 276. W. He, T. Yong, W. E. Teo, Z. Ma and S. Ramakrishna, *Tissue Eng*, 2005, 11, 1574-1588.
- 277. W. He, T. Yong, Z. W. Ma, R. Inai, W. E. Teo and S. Ramakrishna, *Tissue Eng*, 2006, 12, 2457-2466.
- 278. N. F. Huang, S. Patel, R. G. Thakar, J. Wu, B. S. Hsiao, B. Chu, R. J. Lee and S. Li, *Nano letters*, 2006, 6, 537-542.
- 279. S. Levenberg, J. Rouwkema, M. Macdonald, E. S. Garfein, D. S. Kohane, D. C. Darland, R. Marini, C. A. van Blitterswijk, R. C. Mulligan and P. A. D'Amore, *Nature biotechnology*, 2005, 23, 879-884.
- 280. J. S. Choi, S. J. Lee, G. J. Christ, A. Atala and J. J. Yoo, *Biomaterials*, 2008, 29, 2899-2906.
- 281. I. Jun, S. Jeong and H. Shin, *Biomaterials*, 2009, 30, 2038-2047.

- 282. Z. Song, J. Yin, K. Luo, Y. Zheng, Y. Yang, Q. Li, S. Yan and X. Chen, *Macromolecular bioscience*, 2009, 9, 268-278.
- 283. M. Hajiabbas, S. Mashayekhan, A. Nazaripouya, M. Naji, D. Hunkeler, S. Rajabi Zeleti and F. Sharifiaghdas, *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology*, 2013, 1-9.
- 284. S. Bhat and A. Kumar, *Journal of bioscience and bioengineering*, 2012.
- 285. M. Horst, S. Madduri, V. Milleret, T. Sulser, R. Gobet and D. Eberli, *Biomaterials*, 2012.
- 286. A. Huber, A. Pickett and K. M. Shakesheff, *Eur Cell Mater*, 2007, 14, 56-63.
- 287. S. Kumbar, R. James, S. Nukavarapu and C. Laurencin, *Biomedical Materials*, 2008, 3, 034002.
- 288. M. Shin, O. Ishii, T. Sueda and J. Vacanti, *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 3717-3723.
- 289. S. R. Bhattarai, N. Bhattarai, H. K. Yi, P. H. Hwang, D. I. Cha and H. Y. Kim, *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 2595-2602.
- 290. K. Fujihara, M. Kotaki and S. Ramakrishna, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 4139-4147.
- 291. N. Gadegaard, S. Thoms, D. Macintyre, K. Mcghee, J. Gallagher, B. Casey and C. Wilkinson, *Microelectronic Engineering*, 2003, 67, 162-168.
- 292. E.-R. Kenawy, J. M. Layman, J. R. Watkins, G. L. Bowlin, J. A. Matthews, D. G. Simpson and G. E. Wnek, *Biomaterials*, 2003, 24, 907-913.
- 293. B.-M. Min, G. Lee, S. H. Kim, Y. S. Nam, T. S. Lee and W. H. Park, *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 1289-1297.
- 294. B.-M. Min, Y. You, J.-M. Kim, S. J. Lee and W. H. Park, *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 2004, 57, 285-292.
- 295. X. Zong, H. Bien, C.-Y. Chung, L. Yin, D. Fang, B. S. Hsiao, B. Chu and E. Entcheva, *Biomaterials*, 2005, 26, 5330-5338.
- 296. F. Yang, R. Murugan, S. Ramakrishna, X. Wang, Y.-X. Ma and S. Wang, *Biomaterials*, 2004, 25, 1891-1900.
- 297. J. D. Hartgerink, E. Beniash and S. I. Stupp, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2002, 99, 5133-5138.
- 298. H. Liao and G.-Q. Zhou, *Tissue Engineering Part B: Reviews*, 2009, 15, 319-331.
- 299. K. McKeon Fischer and J. Freeman, *Journal of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine*, 2011, 5, 560-568.
- 300. Y. Yamamoto, A. Ito, M. Kato, Y. Kawabe, K. Shimizu, H. Fujita, E. Nagamori and M. Kamihira, *Journal of bioscience and bioengineering*, 2009, 108, 538-543.
- 301. L. D. Black III, J. D. Meyers, J. S. Weinbaum, Y. A. Shvelidze and R. T. Tranquillo, *Tissue Engineering Part A*, 2009, 15, 3099-3108.
- 302. Y.-C. Huang, R. G. Dennis, L. Larkin and K. Baar, *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 2005, 98, 706-713.
- 303. C. A. Powell, B. L. Smiley, J. Mills and H. H. Vandenburgh, *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 2002, 283, C1557-C1565.
- 304. C. Rhim, D. A. Lowell, M. C. Reedy, D. H. Slentz, S. J. Zhang, W. E. Kraus and G. A. Truskey, *Muscle & nerve*, 2007, 36, 71-80.
- 305. W.-H. Zimmermann, K. Schneiderbanger, P. Schubert, M. Didie, F. Münzel, J. Heubach, S. Kostin, W. Neuhuber and T. Eschenhagen, *Circulation research*, 2002, 90, 223-230.
- 306. V. Liu Tsang and S. N. Bhatia, *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 2004, 56, 1635-1647.
- 307. V. L. Tsang, A. A. Chen, L. M. Cho, K. D. Jadin, R. L. Sah, S. DeLong, J. L. West and S. N. Bhatia, *The FASEB Journal*, 2007, 21, 790-801.
- 308. M. Gonen-Wadmany, L. Oss-Ronen and D. Seliktar, *Biomaterials*, 2007, 28, 3876-3886.
- 309. N. E. Fedorovich, M. H. Oudshoorn, D. van Geemen, W. E. Hennink, J. Alblas and W. J. Dhert, *Biomaterials*, 2009, 30, 344-353.
- 310. W. Bian, B. Liau, N. Badie and N. Bursac, *Nature protocols*, 2009, 4, 1522-1534.
- 311. J. P. Beier, D. Klumpp, M. Rudisile, R. Dersch, J. H. Wendorff, O. Bleiziffer, A. Arkudas, E. Polykandriotis, R. E. Horch and U. Kneser, *BMC biotechnology*, 2009, 9, 34.

- 312. H. C. Ott, B. H. Davis and D. A. Taylor, 2006.
- 313. K. C. Wollert and H. Drexler, *Circulation research*, 2005, 96, 151-163.
- 314. L. Ye, H. K. Haider and E. K. Sim, *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 2006, 231, 8-19.
- 315. L. Carr, D. Steele, S. Steele, D. Wagner, R. Pruchnic, R. Jankowski, J. Erickson, F. De Miguel, N. Yoshimura and J. Huard, 2006.
- 316. M. Mitterberger, G.-M. Pinggera, R. Marksteiner, E. Margreiter, M. Fussenegger, F. Frauscher, H. Ulmer, S. Hering, G. Bartsch and H. Strasser, *European urology*, 2008, 53, 169-175.
- 317. C. Powell, J. Shansky, M. D. Tatto, D. E. Forman, J. Hennessey, K. Sullivan, B. A. Zielinski and H. H. Vandenburgh, *Human gene therapy*, 1999, 10, 565-577.
- 318. E. D. Boland, J. A. Matthews, K. J. Pawlowski, D. G. Simpson, G. E. Wnek and G. L. Bowlin, *Frontiers in bioscience: a journal and virtual library*, 2004, 9, 1422-1432.
- 319. D. Klumpp, R. E. Horch, U. Kneser and J. P. Beier, *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine*, 2010, 14, 2622-2629.
- 320. J. Zeng, A. Aigner, F. Czubayko, T. Kissel, J. H. Wendorff and A. Greiner, *Biomacromolecules*, 2005, 6, 1484-1488.
- 321. H. Chen, Y. Zeng, W. Liu, S. Zhao, J. Wu and Y. Du, *Biotechnology Advances*, 2013, 31, 638-653.
- 322. L. Zhang and T. J. Webster, *Nano Today*, 2009, 4, 66-80.
- 323. S. H. Ku, M. Lee and C. B. Park, Advanced Healthcare Materials, 2013, 2, 244-260.
- 324. M. Perán, M. A. García, E. López-Ruiz, M. Bustamante, G. Jiménez, R. Madeddu and J. A. Marchal, International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2012, 13, 3847-3886.